
Posting Date: 08-19-2022 

 

MARIN WATER BOARD OF DIRECTORS: LARRY BRAGMAN, JACK GIBSON, CYNTHIA KOEHLER, LARRY RUSSELL AND MONTY SCHMITT 

P a g e  1 | 2 
 

AMENDED NOTICE OF MEETING 
FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE/BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

(FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION) 

 
(Per paragraph 3 on page 10 under subsection Committee Meetings of the Board Handbook: The 
Board, as a practice, generally does not take final action on items during committee meetings, unless 
District staff determines the urgency of the item requires immediate action that cannot be delayed until 
a subsequent regular bi-monthly Board meeting.) 
 

MEETING DATE: 08-25-2022  
 

TIME:   Meeting begins at 9:30 a.m. (Public) 

LOCATION:  This meeting will be held virtually pursuant to Government Code section 
54953 e (Assembly Bill (AB) 361). The Directors may participate virtually 
via Zoom or in person at 220 Nellen Avenue, Corte Madera, CA 94925. 

  
To participate online, go to https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81110533069. You can also participate 
by phone by calling 1-669-900-6833 and entering the webinar ID#: 811 1053 3069. 

 

PARTICIPATION DURING MEETINGS: During the public comment periods, the public may 
comment by clicking the “raise hand” button on the bottom of the Zoom screen; if you are 
joining by phone and would like to comment, press *9 and we will call on you as appropriate.  
 

EMAILED PUBLIC COMMENTS: You may submit your comments in advance of the meeting by 
emailing them to BoardComment@MarinWater.org. All emailed comments received by 7:30 
a.m. on the day of the meeting will be provided to the Board of Directors prior to the meeting. 
All emails will be posted on our website. (Please do not include personal information in your 
comment that you do not want published on our website such as phone numbers and home 
addresses.) 
 

AGENDA ITEMS RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Call to Order and Roll Call 
 

 

 

Adopt Agenda 
 

 

Approve 

 

Public Comment 
Members of the public may comment on any items not listed on the agenda during 
this time. Comments will be limited to three minutes per speaker, and time limits 
may be reduced by the Committee Chair to accommodate the number of speakers 
and ensure that the meeting is conducted in an efficient manner. 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81110533069
mailto:BoardComment@MarinWater.org


 

P a g e  2 | 2 
 

AGENDA ITEMS RECOMMENDATIONS 
Calendar 
 

 

1. Minutes of the Finance & Administration Committee/Board 
of Directors (Finance & Administration) Meetings of May 26, 
2022 and June 23, 2022 (Approximate Time 1 Minute) 
 

Approve 

2. Response to the Marin County Civil Grand Jury’s Report 
Entitled “A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal 
Water District” 
(Approximate Time 20 Minutes) 
 

Review & Refer to 
Board for Approval 

3. Monthly Financial Update as of June 30, 2022 
(Approximate Time 20 Minutes) 
 

Information 

4. Quarterly Investment Report – June 2022 
(Approximate Time 10 Minutes) 
 

Information  

Adjournment (10:21 a.m.- Time Approximate)  

 

ADA NOTICE AND HEARING IMPAIRED PROVISIONS:  
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and California Law, it is Marin 
Water’s policy to offer its public programs, services, and meetings in a manner that is readily 
accessible to everyone, including those with disabilities. If you are a person with a disability and 
require a copy of a public hearing notice, an agenda, and/or agenda packet in an appropriate 
alternative format, or if you require other accommodations, please contact Board Secretary 
Terrie Gillen at 415.945.1448, at least two days in advance of the meeting. Advance notification 
will enable the Marin Water to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility. 

INFORMATION PACKETS ARE AVAILABLE FOR REVIEW AT THE CIVIC CENTER LIBRARY, CORTE 
MADERA LIBRARY, FAIRFAX LIBRARY, MILL VALLEY LIBRARY, MARIN WATER OFFICE, AND ON 
THE MARIN WATER WEBSITE (MARINWATER.ORG) 
 
FUTURE BOARD MEETINGS:     

 Tuesday, September 6, 2022 
Board of Directors’ Regular Meeting 
7:30 p.m.                                                                                           

 
     _____________________ 

       Board Secretary 



Item Number: 01 
Meeting Date: 08-25-2022 
Meeting: Finance & 
Administration Committee/ 
Board of Directors (Finance & 
Administration) 

 

P a g e  1 | 1 
 

Approval Item  
 

TITLE 
Minutes of the Finance & Administration Committee/Board of Directors (Finance & 
Administration) Meetings of May 26, 2022, and June 23, 2022 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Approve the adoption of the minutes   
 
SUMMARY 
On May 26, 2022, and on June 23, 2022, the Finance & Administration Committee/Board of 
Directors (Finance & Administration) held its regularly scheduled meetings. The minutes of 
those meetings are attached.  
 
DISCUSSION 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 

1. Minutes of the May 26, 2022, Meeting of the Finance & Administration 
Committee/Board of Directors (Finance & Administration) 

2. Minutes of the June 23, 2022, Meeting of the Finance & Administration 
Committee/Board of Directors (Finance & Administration) 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OR DIVISION DIVISION MANAGER APPROVED 

Communications & Public 
Affairs Department 

 

 

 

 

 

 Terrie Gillen 
Board Secretary 

Crystal Yezman for  
Ben Horenstein 

General Manager 
 

 



Item Number: 01 
                                                                                                                                                               Attachment: 01 

1 
 

MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE /BOARD OF DIRECTORS (FINANCE & 

ADMINISTRATION) MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
 

Thursday, May 26, 2022 

Via teleconference 
(In accordance with Assembly Bill 361) 

 
DIRECTORS PRESENT: Larry Bragman, Larry Russell, Monty Schmitt, Jack Gibson, and Cynthia 

Koehler (Director Russell arrived after Roll Call.) 

DIRECTORS ABSENT: None 
 

CALL TO ORDER:  Chair Koehler called the meeting to order at 9:34 a.m. 
 
ADOPT AGENDA:  
 
On motion made by Vice Chair Gibson and seconded by Director Bragman, the board approved 
the adoption of the agenda. The following roll call vote was made.  
 
Ayes: Directors Bragman, Russell, Schmitt, Gibson, and Koehler 
Noes: None 
 
There were no public comments.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
 
There was one (1) public comment. 
 
CALENDAR ITEMS: 
 
Item 1 Minutes of the Finance & Administration Committee/Board of Directors (Finance & 

Administration) Meeting of April 28, 2022 
 
On motion made by Vice Chair Gibson and seconded by Director Bragman, the board approved 
the minutes by the following roll call vote:  
 
Ayes: Directors Bragman, Russell, Schmitt, Gibson and Koehler 
Noes: None 
 
There were no public comments. 



2 
 

Item 2 Resolution Allowing Continuation of Virtual Board and Committee Meetings 
Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361 

General Counsel Molly MacLean presented this item. Discussion ensued. 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
On motion made by Vice Chair Gibson and seconded by Director Schmitt, the board approved 
the minutes by the following roll call vote:  
 
Ayes: Directors Bragman, Russell, Schmitt, Gibson and Koehler 
Noes: None 
 
Item 3 Request for Marin County Elections to Perform Election Services for November 2022 

The board secretary brought forth this item. Brief discussion followed. 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
On motion made by Director Bragman and seconded by Vice Chair Gibson, they referred this 
item to the board for approval. 
 
Item 4 Update on Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Year 2022 & Fiscal Year 2023 

Engineering Division Manager Crystal Yezman presented this item highlighting historical and 
current capital improvement projects (CIP), project details for large project expenditures for FY 
2023, and community outreach. Discussion ensued. 

There were two (2) public comments. 

This was an information item. There was no formal committee action taken. 

Item 5 10-Year Financial Plan 

Engineering Planning Manager Elysha Irish presented this item depicting the existing 10-year 
baseline CIP and funded and un-funded projects and highlighted the recommendation for the 
board to consider funding a hybrid of both unfunded and funded projects including 
conservation.  Discussion followed.  
 
There were three (3) public comments. 
 
This was an informational item. The board did not take formal action 

 

 



3 
 

Item 6 Monthly Financial Update – April 2022 

Acting Financial Manager Shelley Reilly brought forth this item, mentioning the District’s 
revenues and expenditures, as well as the drought impacts and financial projections. 
Afterwards, there was board discussion. 
 
Director Schmitt left at 11 a.m.  
 
There were two (2) public comments. 
 
This was an informational item. The board did not take formal action 

ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the Finance & Administration Committee/Board of Directors 
(Finance & Administration) meeting adjourned at 11:06 a.m. 
 
 

_________________________ 
Board Secretary 



Item Number: 01 
                                                                                                                                                               Attachment: 02 

1 
 

MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE /BOARD OF DIRECTORS (FINANCE & 

ADMINISTRATION) MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
 

Thursday, June 23, 2022 

Via teleconference 
(In accordance with Assembly Bill 361) 

 
DIRECTORS PRESENT: Larry Russell, Monty Schmitt, Jack Gibson, and Cynthia Koehler  

DIRECTORS ABSENT: Larry Bragman 
 
CALL TO ORDER:  Vice Chair Gibson called the meeting to order at 9:30 a.m. 
 
ADOPT AGENDA:  
 
On motion made by Director Schmitt and seconded by Director Russell, the board approved the 
adoption of the agenda. The following roll call vote was made.  
 
Ayes: Directors Russell, Schmitt, Gibson, and Koehler 
Noes: Director Bragman 
 
There were no public comments.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
 
There were no public comments.  
 
CALENDAR ITEMS: 
 
Item 1 Monthly Financial Update – May 2022 

Finance Director/Treasurer Bret Uppendahl first thanked Shelley Reilly for putting together this 
report and acting as Finance Director the last several months. Then, he proceeded to provide a 
presentation on the District’s operating revenues and expenditures, as well as the drought 
impacts and financial projections. There was board discussion with staff during and after the 
presentation.  
 
There was one (1) public comment. 
 
This was an informational item. The board did not take any formal action.  



2 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the Finance & Administration Committee/Board of Directors 
(Finance & Administration) meeting adjourned at 10:08 a.m. 
 
 

_________________________ 
Board Secretary 



Item Number: 02 
Meeting Date: 08-25-2022 
Meeting: Finance & 
Administration Committee/ 
Board of Directors (Finance & 
Administration)  

 

P a g e  1 | 1 
 

Review and Refer for Board Approval  
 

TO:  Finance & Administration Committee/ Board of Directors (Finance & Administration) 
 
FROM:  Ben Horenstein, General Manager  
  
DIVISION NAME: Office of the General Manager 
  
ITEM: Response to the Marin County Civil Grand Jury’s Report Entitled “A Roadmap to Water 
Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District” 
  

 
 
SUMMARY 
On June 13, 2022, the Marin Civil Grand Jury released their report entitled “A Roadman to 
Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District” (Report).  The report discussed the recent 
drought and the need for water resiliency for the District.  Pursuant to California Penal Code 
section 933(c), the District is required to respond to the report and Staff has prepared a 
proposed response to the Grand Jury findings and recommendations in the Report for the 
Board’s review.   
 
DISCUSSION 
The Marin County Civil Grand Jury released its final Report on June 13, 2022.  The Report 
contains sixteen (16) findings and seven (7) recommendations that require responses from the 
District.  The District has undertaken the Strategic Water Supply Assessment in response to the 
recent drought and in order to pursue a roadmap for improved water supply options in light of 
climate change and the potential for more extreme weather conditions, including prolonged 
drought.  Consistent with these efforts, and in accordance with Penal Code Section 933(c) and 
Board Policy No. 44 (Responses to Grand Jury Reports), staff has prepared proposed responses 
to the findings and recommendations for the Board’s review.  The District’s response is due to 
the presiding judge and foreperson prior to the September 12, 2022 submission deadline.   

FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

ATTACHMENT(S) 
1. Proposed Response to Grand Jury Findings and Recommendations 
2. Copy of Final Grand Jury Report 



 

 

Item Number: 02 
   Attachment: 01 

 
 
 
DRAFT 
 
Via U.S. Certified Mail & Email (foreperson@marincounty.org)     September 12, 2022 
 
The Honorable Judge James Chou 
Marin County Superior Court 
P.O. Box 4988 
San Rafael, CA 94913-4988 
 
Deborah Haase, Foreperson 
Marin County Civil Grand Jury 
3501 Civic Center Drive, Room #275 
San Rafael, CA 94903 
 
Re: 2021-2022 Marin County Civil Grand Jury Report- “A Roadmap to Water Resilience for 
Marin Municipal Water District” 
 
Honorable Judge Chou and Foreperson Hasse:  
 
Pursuant to Penal Code Section 933.05, below please find the Marin Municipal Water District’s 
(District) responses to the findings and recommendations set forth in the 2021-2022 Marin 
County Civil Grand Jury’s report entitled, “A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal 
Water District”.  The District appreciates the effort of the 2021-2022 Marin County Civil Grand 
Jury in developing this report as well as the opportunity to provide a response.   
 

I. Responses to Findings 
 
F1. The prospect of Marin Municipal Water District’s reservoirs running dry within a year shows 
that the District has fallen short in its efforts to ensure a long-term resilient supply of water for 
its customers. The District and its ratepayers are vulnerable to the increasing likelihood of water 
shortfalls. 
 
The District wholly disagrees with this finding.  
The westerns state are in the midst of a 22 year drought, the longest in the past 1,200 years, 
which has impacted water security in all western states.  Historic drought conditions impacted 
the District’s water supply due to two consecutive dry winters with extremely low rainfall and 
runoff. Total rainfall was 35.3 inches (67.9% of average) in water year 2020 and 20.7 inches 
(39.8% of average) in water year 2021. This period was the driest 2-years in 44 years (or driest 
21-months in 97 years) and the District is responding to this historic shift in rainfall due to 
climate-change driven conditions, as are most water agencies in the arid west. 

mailto:foreperson@marincounty.org


2 
 

F2. Due to a failure to fully develop and act on long-term water resilience plans, Marin 
Municipal Water District left itself with only the expensive Richmond Bridge pipeline option for 
responding to the drought emergency, which could have preempted pursuit of other means of 
establishing long-term water resilience. 
 
The District wholly disagrees with this finding.   
In response to the severe drought in 1976-77, the District connected to the Sonoma Water 
aqueduct, and has continued to seek out additional water supply opportunities. Soulajule 
Reservoir was built in 1980 and utilized by the District as drinking water supply in the two major 
droughts since – 1990 and 2021. The District also doubled the capacity of Kent Lake in 1982 by 
raising Peters Dam, resulting in a 51% increase (27,000 AF) in local storage volume.  
 
The District has continued over the years to increase our water supply by escalating 
investments with our Sonoma Water partners starting in 1976, and continuing in 1988 and 
1996, along with an investment to upgrade Kastania pump station in 2021.  These significant 
efforts have added resiliency to our water supply.  
 
Since the early 1980s, the District has also pioneered the use of recycled water in Northern 
California, constructing a pilot plant initially in the 1977 drought, completing a 1-MGD recycled 
water treatment plant in 1981, and expanding the treatment facility to 2-MGD in 1990. Early 
investment in recycled water treatment facilities rendered the District the first water supplier in 
Northern California to use recycled water for non-agricultural purposes, such as: car washes, 
air-conditioning cooling towers, a commercial laundry, toilet flushing in a condominium 
complex and a large hotel. In 2019, the District, in partnership with Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District (LGVSD), funded a membrane filtration upgrade and expansion of LGVSD’s Recycled 
Water Facility, a state of the art membrane treatment plant located at and operated by LGVSD. 
The District has a longstanding partnership with LGVSD and the recent expansion will support 
long-term growth of recycled water use in the service area.  
 
F3. Marin Municipal Water District has not adequately addressed climate change in developing 
its long-term water supply plans to date. Relying on historical data to predict future rainfall is 
not sufficient given ongoing and future changes in the climate. 
 
The District partially disagrees with this finding 
 
District water supply planning efforts over the past decade have incorporated available climate 
change projections and impacts on rainfall, runoff, and temperatures. The available data and 
research on the potential impacts of climate change have continued to evolve.  The 2017 Water 
Resources Plan 2040 (WRP) incorporated climate change data from the Pepperwood Preserve’s 
Climate Ready North Bay initiative (Pepperwood Preserve, 2015). The climate change 
precipitation, inflow, and temperature data used in the District’s water supply model was 
derived from Pepperwood using a basin characterization model developed by USGS to 
downscale the impacts of the CCSM4_rcp85, CNRM_rcp85, MIROC_ESM_rcp85, and GFDL_A2 
Global Circulation Models (GCMs) to the District’s watershed (Pepperwood, 2015). The lowest 



3 
 

inflow scenario from these GCMs, MIROC_ESM_rcp85, was used as the climate change 
reliability threat discussed throughout the WRP 2040. Based on the modeling performed in 
2017, there were no predicted shortages through 2040 under the modeled climate change 
scenarios, although overall reservoir levels were projected to significantly decrease under the 
modeled climate change conditions. 
 
For the development of the 2020 Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP), all water utilities in 
California were required to consider historical drought hydrology, plausible changes on 
projected supplies and demands under climate change conditions, anticipated regulatory 
changes, and other locally applicable criteria. In developing the 2020 UWMP, the District used 
demand factors considering both the 2011-2013 period, in which customers increased their 
water use (in part due to the drought conditions, prior to the imposed restrictions), as well as 
the observed rebound in demand following the drought (2017-2019). Therefore, the periods 
used to develop the demand projections reflect conditions representative of the hotter, drier 
weather expected as a result of climate change. 
 
Given ongoing and future changes in the climate, the District agrees that relying on historical 
data to predict future rainfall is not sufficient. The incorporation of best available climate 
change data is key for long-term water supply planning under unknown future conditions. 
 
F4. Even with ongoing successful conservation efforts, Marin Municipal Water District will need 
additional sources of water and storage capacity to provide a long-term reliable water supply 
for its ratepayers. 
 
The District agrees with this finding.  
 
F5. Marin Municipal Water District has been slow to adopt proven Advanced Metering 
Infrastructure technology, which could enhance conservation by providing the District and its 
customers with real time data on water use and repairable leaks. 
 
The District wholly disagrees with this finding.  
Starting in 2017, the District initiated a pilot Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) project 
and has installed over 5,000 AMI meters within the service area of 61,000 meters. Adoption of 
AMI is an expensive and labor-intensive investment with many industry standards still being 
established and the technology advancing rapidly. Similar to other agencies in the Bay Area, the 
District initially conducted a pilot study of this technology, followed by an AMI Feasibility Study 
in 2020 to determine an effective path forward. An implementation plan for system-wide AMI 
within the service area is under development. 
 
F6. Marin Municipal Water District could enhance its water resilience by constructing an East 
Bay pipeline for importing additional water. This option would also enable MMWD to 
participate in a regional desalination project and add storage capacity in the Los Vaqueros 
Reservoir. 
 



4 
 

The District agrees with this finding. This is one of the alternatives being assessed as part of 
the Strategic Water Supply Assessment.  
 
F7. Marin Municipal Water District could improve its water supply resilience by restructuring its 
relationship with the Sonoma County Water Agency in order to increase imports and potentially 
develop additional storage capacity. 
 
The District agrees with this finding. This is one of the alternatives being assessed as part of 
the Strategic Water Supply Assessment.  
 
F8. Drought-proof supplies of water will become increasingly important in the coming years, 
with climate change-induced droughts expected to become more frequent and severe. 
 
The District agrees with this finding. 
 
F9. Marin Municipal Water District has failed to place sufficient priority on development of 
drought-proof sources of water, such as recycling programs and regional desalination projects. 
 
The District wholly disagrees with this finding.   
What constitutes a drought-proof water source will depend on the variability of drought 
conditions, which have intensified in recent years due to climate change.  Since the early 1980s, 
the District has pioneered the use of recycled water in Northern California, constructing a pilot 
plant initially in the 1977 drought, completing a 1-MGD recycled water treatment plant in 1981, 
and expanding the treatment facility to 2-MGD in 1990. Early investment in recycled water 
treatment facilities rendered the District as the first water supplier in Northern California to use 
recycled water for non-agricultural purposes, such as: car washes, air-conditioning cooling 
towers, a commercial laundry, toilet flushing in a condominium complex and a large hotel. In 
2019, the District, in partnership with Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (LGVSD), funded an 
expansion of LGVSD’s Recycled Water Facility, a state of the art membrane treatment plant 
located at and operated by LGVSD. The District has a longstanding partnership with LGVSD and 
the recent expansion will support long-term growth of recycled water use in the service area.  
 
In 2006, the District installed a pilot desalination facility to further understand this supply 
alternative. Both of these options, recycling and desalination, are alternatives being considered 
as part of the Strategic Water Supply Assessment.  
 
F10. The use of direct potable reuse presents a reliable, drought-proof, and cost-effective option 
for securing a substantial volume of additional potable water from within the Marin Municipal 
Water District. 
 
The District partially disagrees with this finding.   
While the use of direct potable reuse may present a reliable and drought-proof option for 
securing additional potable water in the future, regulations are not expected before December 
2023, and the recycling criteria is actively under review and revision with many unknowns still 



5 
 

to be determined. The cost-effectiveness and ultimate viability of direct potable reuse for the 
District will be dependent on the final recycling criteria incorporated into the regulations. Once 
the use becomes a legal water supply alternative,  the District will be able to evaluate whether 
this option would be viable and cost-effective for the District.  
 
F11. The use of direct potable reuse is a potentially more efficient and impactful use of 
wastewater, as compared to recycling that wastewater for non-potable use in a “purple pipe” 
system. 
 
The District partially disagrees with this finding.  
Direct Potable reuse is, in theory, more efficient than purple pipe in that the treated water 
could be introduced directly to the distribution system and does not require a second pipe 
network. Unfortunately, this has never been done in California and presents a level of risk that 
would not be the best use of the District’s resources at this time. Possible challenges include 
regulating treated water temperatures and addressing possible emerging pollutant 
constituents.  The District also needs to carefully weigh the use of wastewater which may be 
necessary to dilute the brine from a possible future desalination plant.  
 
F12. Desalination is a feasible, drought-proof option for producing additional water for the 
Marin Municipal Water District. 
 
The District partially disagrees with this finding.   
Desalination is a proven technology.  The District has conducted a yearlong pilot program and 
has a certified Environmental Impact Report. Given the voter-adopted initiative in 2010, 
however, the District must seek voter approval for the financing and construction of a 
desalination plant before proceeding. Additionally, Desalination as a water supply option may 
be prohibitively expensive, depending on the extent of grant funding and regional North Bay 
participation.  
 
F13. Marin Municipal Water District participation in a large-scale regional desalination project 
is likely the most feasible desalination option that could provide an additional drought-proof 
source of water. 
 
The District wholly disagrees with this finding.   
A large scale regional desalination plant will require an intertie to be constructed across the bay 
which will add significant time and costs. Furthermore, a number of agreements to wheel the 
water to District customers will be necessary adding uncertainty, time and expense. In 
particular, the East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) has established board adopted 
Wheeling Principles that could rule out the use of EBMUD facilities to reliably wheel water. A 
local desalination plant at 10-MGD or 15-MGD of capacity would appear to have a lower cost 
per acre foot and a greater level of reliability.  
 
 
 



6 
 

F14. The measures needed to secure long-term water resilience will require additional funding 
and higher water rates for Marin Municipal Water District’s ratepayers. 
 
The District agrees with this finding.  
 
F15. Marin Municipal Water District would improve its chances of receiving federal and state 
water resilience grant money by participating in regional partnerships. 
 
The District agrees with this finding.   
 
F16. Marin Municipal Water District could significantly enhance water supply resilience and 
improve risk management during droughts, earthquakes, and other natural disasters by 
increasing its participation in regional partnerships with other water agencies. 
 
The District agrees with this finding.  
 

II. Responses to Recommendations 
 
R1. By September 30, 2022, the Marin Municipal Water District should commit to securing 
10,000 to 15,000 AF per year of additional water supply before 2035. 
 
This recommendation requires further analysis. The District is undertaking a rapid but 
thorough evaluation of water supply including determining how much water supply is needed, 
what options there are to provide water supply, how much these options will cost and how 
these options will perform in drought conditions. It is likely that the final determination for 
these questions will be made sometime after September 30, 2022. 
 
R2. By December 31, 2022, Marin Municipal Water District should develop and act on a 
detailed long-term roadmap to resilience by identifying and prioritizing sources of 
additional supply. 
 
This recommendation has been implemented. On February 1, 2022, the District secured the 
services of Jacobs Engineering for a Strategic Water Supply Assessment, which will be 
completed in December 2022 and includes a prioritization of potential additional supplies. 
 
R3. In its resilience roadmap, Marin Municipal Water District should prioritize the 
development of drought-proof sources of water, including direct potable reuse and 
regional desalination. 
 
This recommendation has been implemented.  The Strategic Water Supply Assessment has 
identified a number of potential water management alternatives including water reuse options 
and desalination. The water management alternatives will be assessed and evaluated based in 
large part on how they perform under various drought scenarios.  
 



7 
 

R4. In its resilience roadmap, Marin Municipal Water District should include strategies for 
collaborating with other Bay Area water districts to enhance its competitiveness in 
seeking federal and state grants. 
 
This recommendation has been implemented. The District participates in the North Bay Water 
Reuse Authority, Sonoma-Marin Partnership, Bay Area Regional Reliability, and a host of other 
industry groups and coalitions that coordinate and support federal and state grant 
opportunities.  
 
R5. By December 31, 2022, Marin Municipal Water District should adopt a near-term plan 
for increasing Russian River imports and expanding the District’s relationship with the 
Sonoma County Water Agency. 
 
This recommendation has been implemented.  The Kastania Pump Station was re-engineered 
to come on line in early 2022 and has enhanced the District’s ability to import water from the 
Russian River. Staff continues to explore options to improve the availability of imported water.  
 
R6. By December 31, 2022, the Marin Municipal Water District should commit to completing 
a District-wide installation of Advanced Metering Infrastructure by the end of 2024. 
 
This recommendation has not yet been implemented, but will be implemented in the future. 
A system-wide AMI implementation plan is now under development and possible future 
funding sources are being evaluated.  
 
R7. By December 31, 2022, Marin Municipal Water District should develop a long-term plan 
for financing the prioritized resilience options and communicate this information to ratepayers. 
 
This recommendation has not yet been implemented, but will be implemented in the future. 
Upon the conclusion of the Strategic Water Supply Assessment, which is expected to be 
complete in December 2022, the long-term plan for financing the options identified in the 
assessment will be developed.  It is anticipated that financing alternatives would include the 
pursuit of grant opportunities and bond financing.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



Marin County Civil Grand Jury 
 

 

 
 

2021–2022 MARIN COUNTY CIVIL GRAND JURY 

A ROADMAP TO WATER RESILIENCE  

FOR MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
June 13, 2022 

SUMMARY 

For most of 2021, people living within the Marin Municipal Water District (MMWD) anxiously 

faced the prospect of the District literally running out of water.1 Luckily, the worst-case 

scenarios did not materialize, thanks to unexpected and historic amounts of rainfall in late 2021. 

But the drought has not ended. Nor has the likelihood of future droughts, which experts agree 

will be more frequent and severe as greenhouse gasses continue to heat our climate. 

Last year’s drought emergency could have been avoided, if MMWD had taken sufficient 

measures to provide for a resilient water supply. With the mounting challenges posed by climate 

change, the mistakes of the past cannot be repeated. MMWD must establish a roadmap for 

achieving water supply resilience without delay. In this report, the Grand Jury addresses the 

reasons why a roadmap is necessary, the options for achieving water supply resilience, and the 

financial commitments needed to secure resilience. This report also discusses the importance of 

prioritizing drought-proof water supplies, which are less vulnerable to the statewide competition 

for water that the future may hold. Finally, it addresses the likely financial commitments and rate 

increases necessary to fund resilience measures. 

As an initial step, the Grand Jury calls upon MMWD to commit to securing a four-year supply of 

water, amounting to an additional 10,000 to 15,000 acre feet per year. If MMWD is able to 

publicly share its position regarding this commitment in the near term, it would enable public 

debate and discussion on this critical issue in advance of upcoming District elections in 

November 2022. 

Adoption of a roadmap to resilience will require more time. As this report reflects, there are a 

number of water supply options that deserve serious consideration. These include such near term 

options as increasing imports from Sonoma County or the Central Valley, as well as longer-term 

options that emphasize drought-proof supplies from water recycling and desalination. MMWD is 

due to receive a Water Resilience Assessment by July 2022, which will presumably address 

these and perhaps other resilience options. But while studies are necessary, they are not 

sufficient. MMWD should commit to a transparent process for evaluating credible water supply 

options, and a timeline for producing an actionable roadmap.  

The time has come for MMWD to take action and ensure that the District has a sound plan to 

secure adequate water supplies in the face of an uncertain future.  

 
1 In 2020, Marin Municipal Water District adopted the new name “Marin Water.” This report will use the more 

commonly known “Marin Municipal Water District” or “MMWD.” 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 2 of 23 

APPROACH 

Over 12 months, the Marin County Civil Grand Jury reviewed official documents, attended 

public meetings, conducted detailed interviews, on-site inspections, and reviewed secondary 

sources.  

The jury read dozens of MMWD documents, including the 2020 Urban Water Management Plan, 

the Water Resources Plan 2040, the 10-year Financial Plan, and District agreements with the 

Sonoma County Water Agency. Documents addressing climate change were also reviewed. 

Jurors attended MMWD public meetings and workshops in person, virtually, and through 

recordings. The research included inspections of district facilities and systems. Jurors visited 

other water districts and sanitation facilities to understand best practices that might apply to the 

operation of MMWD. Numerous water experts and leaders were interviewed. 

The jury also studied local, state, and national news reports, opinion pieces, and reader letters on 

water supply, drought, climate change, conservation, water recycling and reuse, desalination, 

aquifers, and more. The findings and recommendations herein are based on this work.  

BACKGROUND 

Except in a few circumstances of extreme drought in the past, MMWD has successfully supplied 

water to most of Marin County since it was established as California’s first municipal water 

district in 1912. Successive drought years from 2019 to 2021 exposed MMWD to the risk of 

running out of water in 2022. This prompted the Marin Civil Grand Jury to investigate the 

reliability and resiliency of MMWD’s water supply as well as the District’s financial ability to 

potentially expand and diversify its water portfolio. MMWD serves some 191,000 users through 

more than 61,000 connections in an approximately 147 square mile area stretching from below 

the Novato city limits to the San Francisco Bay on the east and south and through San Geronimo 

Valley on the west.  

The District includes the cities and towns of Belvedere, Corte Madera, Fairfax, Larkspur, Mill 

Valley, Ross, San Anselmo, San Rafael, Sausalito, and Tiburon. MMWD is bordered on the 

north by the North Marin Water District and in West Marin by smaller water agencies serving 

various coastal communities.  

Figure 1: MMWD Service Area 

 
Map courtesy of Marin Municipal Water District 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 3 of 23 

MMWD’s Water Sources 

MMWD annually relies on local rainfall for about 20,000 acre feet (AF) or 75 percent of its 

consumed water.2 Rainfall is collected from a 64-square-mile watershed and stored in seven 

reservoirs, including Lagunitas, Bon Tempe, Alpine, Kent, and Phoenix lakes on the slopes of 

Mount Tamalpais as well as Nicasio and Soulajule reservoirs in West Marin north of the 

district’s service area. Together, these reservoirs can hold up to 79,566 AF or about 25.9 billion 

gallons of water.  

Under contracts initiated in 1976, MMWD imports about 25 percent of its water from the 

Sonoma County Water Agency (SCWA), which collects and stores water from the Russian River 

in Lake Mendocino and from Dry Creek in Lake Sonoma. MMWD also gets about 750 AF of 

recycled non-potable wastewater annually from the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District for 

landscape irrigation, cleaning, cooling systems, and other purposes. MMWD does not collect or 

distribute recycled water from any of the other sanitary plants in Marin County.  

Historical Water Storage Expansions 

Over the years, MMWD has enhanced its storage capacity, which is still only enough to satisfy 

historical customer water demand and required environmental demands for a little more than two 

years. MMWD’s customers currently consume about 25,500 AF of water per year. The District 

built reservoirs at Lagunitas Lake in 1873, Phoenix Lake in 1905, Alpine Lake in 1918, Bon 

Tempe Lake in 1948, Kent Lake in 1953, and Lake Nicasio in 1960. The District added 

Soulajule Reservoir in 1980 using bond money approved in response to the severe 1976-77 

drought. MMWD completed its last storage expansion project in 1982 when it doubled the 

capacity of Kent Lake by raising Peters Dam 45 feet.  

Rainfall Trends 

The District’s water supply depends almost exclusively on rainfall in the California coastal range 

extending from Marin County northward into the watershed drained by the Russian and Eel 

rivers. Average annual rainfall across this extended watershed is 47 inches, with most falling 

from October through April. MMWD’s watershed typically gets more rainfall than the rest of 

this area.  

Average annual rainfall within the MMWD service area is 52 inches, according to measurements 

taken since the 1879-80 rainy season at Lake Lagunitas. In 142 years of record keeping, 

MMWD’s annual rainfall has ranged from 19 inches in 1925-26 to 112 inches in 1889-90. 

Except for 1925-26, 2020-21 was the driest year in MMWD’s rainfall records with just 20.4 

inches of rain. While MMWD’s draft 2020 Urban Water Management Plan observes that “annual 

rainfall is unpredictable,” the second half of that measuring period has been dryer than the first. 

Past Grand Jury Reports on MMWD’s Water Resilience 

Water resilience is not a new issue for MMWD or the Marin County Civil Grand Jury. The 2004-

05 Grand Jury issued a report recommending stepped up conservation programs with a goal of 

reducing water use by 10 percent.3 That report also called for the development and publication of 

 
2 An acre foot is the volume of water to cover one acre one foot deep, or approximately 325,850 gallons. An acre 

foot of water will meet the total annual need of 2-3 households. 
3 Marin County Civil Grand Jury 2004-2005, Water, Water Anywhere? A Review of Marin’s Water Resources, April 

27, 2005. https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/gj/reports-responses/2004/water_anywhere.pdf 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 4 of 23 

water resiliency plans and a districtwide vote on desalination or pipeline expansions. The 2007-

08 Grand Jury published another report finding that global warming was accelerating and water 

demand was outstripping supply.4 This report also noted that the District was taking appropriate 

measures to balance supply and demand with conservation programs and giving consideration to 

a desalination plant, which was never pursued.  

DISCUSSION 

Early heavy rainfalls in the 2021-22 rain season undoubtedly elicited a sigh of relief within the 

Marin Municipal Water District. But a severe drought that raised the real possibility of MMWD 

reservoirs running dry in the summer of 2022 exposed serious shortcomings in the District’s 

ability to offer its customers a reliable supply of water. This drought shook public confidence 

and raised significant questions about the adequacy of MMWD’s water resilience planning as 

well as the necessary leadership by the District’s board. Adding to these concerns is recent state 

legislation mandating new housing construction that will require thousands of new water 

hookups in the District. 

Water Resilience Planning 

Climate change impacts on the reliability of MMWD’s water supply are considered in the 

District’s 2040 Water Resources Plan, which was presented to the District’s board in 2017, and 

in the draft of its state mandated 2020 Urban Water Management Plan. Urban water management 

plans must be completed and submitted to the California Department of Water Resources every 

five years.5 Longer-term water resources plans are intended to address water resilience issues and 

are recommended to be updated every five years in conjunction with urban water management 

plans.6 

MMWD’s plans call attention to the risk of extended drought as well as water quality issues 

caused by more intense storm runoff, wildfire in the watershed, and contamination from sea level 

rise. The Urban Water Management plan states that “with less frequent, more intense storms, 

there also will be extended dry periods that may have a significant impact on available water 

supply for the District.”  

While climate change is addressed in these plans, key long-term projections have proven to be 

erroneous. “There are no predicted shortages with projected demand through 2040 under climate 

change conditions,” according to MMWD’s Water Resources Plan. This plan goes on to 

incorrectly state that “total storage in the District’s current system may reach as low a level as 

16,000 AF in the most extreme case, compared to a low level of 40,000 AF under historical 

hydrology.” The practice of relying on historical precipitation to predict the future has proven to 

be flawed in light of climate change. In fact, the possibility of reservoirs running dry is much 

higher than anticipated. As recently as October 2021, MMWD’s Board was presented with 

 
4 Marin County Civil Grand Jury 2007-2008, Sustaining Marin’s Fragile Water Supply, May 20, 2008. 

https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/gj/reports-responses/2007/sustaining_marins_water.pdf  
5 California Department of Water Resources, “Urban Water Management Plans.” 

https://water.ca.gov/Programs/Water-Use-And-Efficiency/Urban-Water-Use-Efficiency/Urban-Water-Management-

Plans 
6 Marin Municipal Water District, Water Resources Plan 2040, March 2017, p. 1-

3.https://www.marinwater.org/sites/default/files/2020-09/Water%20Resources%20Plan%202040.pdf 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 5 of 23 

credible scenarios showing the possibility of reservoirs dropping to less than 10,000 AF by mid-

2022.7 

MMWD also has a comprehensive Hazard Mitigation Plan that identifies risks, including 

earthquake, wildfire, drought, and landslides. It estimates that the financial risk to MMWD 

facilities alone is $1.9 billion.8 In addition to devastating downstream communities, dam failure 

would cause the loss of a massive amount of water. Wildfire, an escalating risk in Marin, could 

pollute water supplies and cause power outages that disable MMWD’s pumping and treatment 

facilities. These risks are exacerbated by MMWD’s lack of strong regional partnerships with 

neighboring water agencies that might be needed for emergency supplies. 

A Four-Year Water Supply 

Experts advise water districts in areas with significant variations in annual rainfall to have access 

to a four-year supply of water, and many districts use this benchmark. A four-year supply would 

include total reservoir capacity as well as available imports and water produced through 

recycling or desalination plants. Annual water consumption in MMWD totals 40,000 AF per 

year, consisting of 25,500 AF in water sales as well as another 14,500 AF in evaporation and 

required environmental releases into creeks.  

 
7Marin Municipal Water District, Drought Update, Board of Directors Meeting, October 5, 2021. 

https://www.marinwater.org/sites/default/files/2021-10/10-05-2021%20Drought%20Update.pdf  
8 Marin Municipal Water District, Hazard Mitigation Plan, September 2021, p.16-4. 

https://www.marinwater.org/sites/default/files/2021-09/2021-09_MarinMuniWaterHMP_PublicReviewDraft.pdf  

Phoenix Lake 

Photo Courtesy of Will Carroll 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 6 of 23 

Based on MMWD’s annual consumption, the District would need access to 160,000 AF of water 

to establish a four-year supply. The District's current four year supply is about 120,000 AF, 

including 80,000 AF of reservoir capacity and 40,000 AF available through annual imports of 

10,000 AF from Sonoma. To establish an adequate four-year supply, MMWD would need at 

least another 40,000 AF of water, or another 10,000 AF per year. However, an additional 10,000 

AF may not be enough to satisfy demand from future growth. Given climate change, drier years, 

the likelihood of underfilled reservoirs, and future housing construction, MMWD should plan for 

accessing 10,000 to 15,000 AF of water per year to establish a long-term resilient supply. A 

significant portion of this ought to come from drought-proof sources.  

Figure 2: Typical MMWD Water Uses, Acre Feet per Year 

 
Source: Marin Municipal Water District 

 

The Grand Jury assessed options to improve the water supply-demand balance, including new 

sources of supply and conservation, from the long-term perspective of how MMWD could 

expand its annual water supply by 10,000-15,000 AF per year. 

MMWD’s Resilience Options 

The 83-page Appendix F to MMWD’s 2040 Water Resource Plan lists more than 35 options for 

improving MMWD’s water resilience.9 These include conservation, residential rainwater and 

greywater collection, wastewater reuse, and increased water imports from Sonoma County, the 

Central Valley, or Humboldt County. The plan also looks at reservoir dredging, raising Soulajule 

dam, and sourcing groundwater from the Ross Valley and the Lagunitas watersheds within the 

District as well as from aquifers in Sonoma County. These options are described in detail 

together with their required facilities, estimated capital, operational and acre-foot costs, and the 

amount of water they would add to supply. With these options for additional supply having been 

known to MMWD’s board for the last five years, the Grand Jury questions why the District has 

not moved forward more aggressively with any of them.  

 

The Grand Jury researched several of these options, including conservation, increasing imports 

from the Central Valley and Sonoma County, and developing long-term drought-proof water 

sources from new recycling and desalination plants.  

  

 
9 MMWD, Water Resources Plan 2040, Appendix F, pp.1-83.  



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 7 of 23 

Conservation 

MMWD and its customers have achieved significant water savings through ongoing 

conservation programs. There is potential to add to these savings through additional conservation 

efforts, including by investing in a districtwide Advanced Metering Infrastructure, also known as 

“AMI.” However, additional conservation alone will not be sufficient to meet MMWD’s long-

term resilience needs. 

Annual water sales for MMWD are 25,500 AF, with about 18,000 AF going to single and multi-

family homes and the balance going to businesses, governments, and other institutions. In 2015, 

MMWD water use averaged 149 gallons per person per day, according to MMWD’s 2020 Urban 

Water Management Plan.10 As a consequence of active conservation programs and the use of 

more efficient plumbing fixtures, MMWD’s consumption dropped to 124 gallons per person per 

day by 2021, including both indoor and outdoor uses by all customer segments. Plan tables show 

MMWD’s water consumption is in line with other water districts in the North Bay. 

With continued conservation efforts, MMWD’s 2020 urban water management plan projects 

annual total residential water use will decrease by 3.5 percent from 2020 to 2045, while the 

district population increases by 10.8 percent. For the same period, the plan projects that the 

number of housing units in the district will increase by 8,800 to total 90,300. To serve more 

people with additional water hookups and still meet state mandated conservation goals, 

MMWD’s plan projects that indoor residential per capita water use must drop another 12.5 

percent, from 56 gallons per day in 2020 to 49 gallons per day in 2040.  

To achieve its needed savings, MMWD will have to continue conducting aggressive 

conservation campaigns aimed at changing the way its customers use water. Even with a highly 

successful conservation effort, the savings will be largely offset by increased demand from a 

larger population. Consequently, MMWD will remain exposed to the risk of running dry during 

extended droughts. 

Advanced Metering: An Under-Utilized Conservation Tool 

Advanced Metering Infrastructure is another missed opportunity to improve MMWD’s water 

resilience and conservation efforts. Advanced metering automatically transmits customers’ real-

time water use data to the District for billing purposes. It also flags wasteful system leaks that 

need repair and cuts meter reading costs. It enables customers to monitor and adjust their water 

use in real time to achieve conservation goals.  

Advanced metering is widely used among Bay Area water districts, including the North Marin 

Water District. Unfortunately, MMWD stopped short of a districtwide installation, electing to 

pilot advanced metering in a select area. Today, most MMWD customers must wait for water 

bills to check and modify their consumption. Alternatively, MMWD customers can pay for a 

Flume device to see real-time consumption data that is not shared with the District. MMWD 

subsidies for its Flume program could be better spent on a more equitable districtwide 

installation of advanced metering.  

In 2019 alone, MMWD lost 2,788 AF of water, including 1,964 AF in real losses from leaks in 

its distribution system and another 823 AF of apparent losses from meter inaccuracies, data 

 
10 Marin Municipal Water District, Urban Water Management Plan 2015 Update, June 2016, p. 5-10. 

https://www.marinwater.org/sites/default/files/2020-09/2015%20UWMP%20Final%20Report.pdf 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 8 of 23 

errors, and water theft.11 Using advanced metering, consumers could more closely monitor and 

reduce their consumption, and MMWD could potentially save more than 2,000 AF of water per 

year by quickly identifying and repairing leaks in its distribution system.  

Water Imports  

In the near-term, MMWD will likely need to import water from the Central Valley or Sonoma 

while it is developing long-term drought-proof supplies. MMWD has already taken some steps to 

plan for an East Bay pipeline and to immediately increase imports through the Sonoma County 

Water Agency (SCWA). There are additional opportunities to improve the reliability of 

MMWD’s water supply by strengthening the District’s relationship with SCWA. 

East Bay Pipeline 

Lack of action on water resilience options and the prospect of reservoirs running dry in mid-2022 

forced MMWD to initiate emergency planning for purchasing and importing up to 10,000 AF of 

Central Valley water via a new $100 million pipeline to the East Bay. The District has already 

spent about $10 million on plans and materials and initiated a $1.5 million environmental impact 

report on this option. Heavy rainfalls at the end of 2021 alleviated the emergency by refilling 

MMWD’s reservoirs, but a worrisome dry start to 2022 and the long timeline needed to 

implement other drought-proof resilience measures leave this option on the table. 

 
Richmond-San Rafael Bridge 

Photo courtesy of Marin Municipal Water District 

The East Bay pipeline intertie plan calls for building an eight mile pipeline via the San Rafael-

Richmond Bridge. A similar pipeline allowed MMWD to access water during the severe 1976-77 

drought, but was later removed. Under an agreement already negotiated by MMWD, at least 

10,000 AF of Central Valley water could be purchased annually from the Yuba Water Agency. 

Water released by Yuba agency dams would travel more than 100 miles down the Sacramento 

River where it would be collected and purchased by the Contra Costa Water District on behalf of 

MMWD. Contra Costa Water District could store the MMWD water in the Los Vaqueros 

Reservoir or pipe it directly through the East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) to 

Richmond, where it would be pumped over the bridge into Marin. MMWD’s proposed pipeline 

could import up to 10,000 AF per year, which amounts to almost 25 percent of the District’s 

annual water use.  

 
11 MMWD, 2020 Water Management Plan, Public Review Draft, May 2021, Section 4.1.4. 

https://www.marinwater.org/sites/default/files/2021-06/Draft%20MMWD%20UWMP%202020-1.pdf 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 9 of 23 

Contra Costa Water District’s annual estimate for purchasing, collecting, and transporting 

MMWD’s water import from the Central Valley is about $8 million, or $800 per AF. MMWD 

would have to pay additional costs for transporting water through the East Bay Municipal Utility 

District and pumping it over the bridge into Marin. Estimates for the total cost of buying and 

transporting water into Marin run up to $2,500 per AF.  

To be implemented, the East Bay pipeline would require approvals from numerous agencies 

including the State Water Resources Board, the Contra Costa Water District, EBMUD, the City 

of Richmond, CalTrans, and several others. Project approval is not guaranteed. It is already 

opposed by some members of the EBMUD board, and EBMUD has identified a set of 

restrictions which could significantly limit MMWD’s ability to import water through the 

pipeline. Additionally, a group of Richmond residents has expressed concerns about the location 

of the pumping station for moving the water into Marin. 

The East Bay project has also been opposed in a lawsuit filed by environmental advocates 

concerned about impacts on the Sacramento-San Joaquin River delta. MMWD initially pursued 

the East Bay pipeline as an emergency measure, without the requirement for an environmental 

impact report. Heavy rains at the end of 2021 refilled critically low reservoirs and ended the 

emergency status. Negative impacts on the delta, including saltwater intrusion caused by 

overdrafting and too many water diversions, could cause the State Water Resources Board to 

prevent the Yuba Water Agency from selling water for MMWD to the Contra Costa Water 

District. The risk of this cutoff would be heightened during extended droughts.  

While it is faced with challenges, the East Bay pipeline could improve MMWD’s water 

resilience in several ways. Besides adding substantially to MMWD’s water supply, the pipeline 

would: 

■ Give MMWD the ability to store an additional 15,000 acre feet of water in Los Vaqueros 

reservoir, thus bringing the district’s total storage capacity up to 95,000 acre feet without 

dredging or raising an existing dam 

 

■ Enable MMWD to access drought-proof water by partnering in more affordable regional 

desalination projects that offer economies of scale 

 

■ Create opportunities for broad partnerships such as the Bay Area Regional Reliability 

Plan that could help MMWD and other water districts improve regional resilience, 

particularly during disasters such as dam failures caused by earthquakes 

 

■ Significantly expand the size of the total watershed and the number of potential water 

sources available to MMWD in dry years. 

Investing in an East Bay pipeline could significantly improve MMWD’s long-term water 

resilience in a comparatively short period of time. 

Increasing Sonoma Water Imports 

 

MMWD may have an opportunity to expand its relationship with Sonoma County Water Agency 

(SCWA) in order to increase water imports from the Russian River and potentially share storage 

capacity in groundwater aquifers. Over the long-term, a stronger regional partnership could lead 

to the development of a regional desalination facility to support North Bay needs.  



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 10 of 23 

 

SCWA was created as a special district in 1949 by the California Legislature to provide flood 

protection and water supply services to the North Bay.12 SCWA manages and maintains a water 

transmission system that provides naturally filtered Russian River water to nine cities and special 

districts that in turn deliver drinking water to more than 600,000 residents.  
 

The Russian River originates in central Mendocino County, approximately 15 miles north of 

Ukiah. It drains 1,485 square miles including much of Sonoma and Mendocino counties, and 

reaches the Pacific Ocean at Jenner, 20 miles west of Santa Rosa.13 

 
Figure 3: SCWA Watershed and Service Area 

 
Map courtesy of Sonoma County Water Agency 

SCWA’s primary customers include Cotati, Petaluma, Rohnert Park, Santa Rosa, Sonoma, and 

Windsor as well as the Valley of the Moon and North Marin water districts. MMWD is a 

customer of SCWA, but its contractual purchasing rights are subordinate to those of other 

customers. Under its existing contracts with SCWA, MMWD can buy up to 14,300 AF per year, 

subject to certain conditions and seasonal limitations. In the event of a shortage curtailing SCWA 

access to Russian River water, contracts give SCWA the right to proportionally reduce its 
deliveries to its customers, including MMWD. In fact, SCWA cut MMWD’s imports (along with 

its other customers) by 20 percent in the 2020-21 drought year. Given ongoing severe drought 

 
12 Sonoma Water, “About Us.” https://www.sonomawater.org/about-us  
13 Sonoma Water, “Water Supply.” https://www.sonomawater.org/water-supply 

 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 11 of 23 

conditions and low levels in Mendocino and Sonoma lakes, there is a real possibility of 

additional cutbacks this year.  

MMWD has not historically purchased anywhere near the maximum amount of water available 

from SCWA. Over the last five years, MMWD water purchases from SCWA have averaged less 

than 6,000 AF per year of the 14,300 AF contractually available to it. MMWD’s usual practice 

has been to prioritize the use of lower-cost water from its own reservoirs before purchasing 

imported water from SCWA. 

Infrastructure Bottlenecks 

In addition to having contractual limitations on SCWA imports, MMWD imports have been 

constrained by its infrastructure. SCWA water flows to MMWD and the North Marin Water 

District via the Petaluma Aqueduct (pipeline), through the Kastania pumping station, and then to 

MMWD’s treatment and distribution system in Ignacio. This system is too small to 

accommodate the needs of both MMWD and North Marin Water District, which owns the 

aqueduct and imports 75 percent of its water from SCWA. An additional physical limitation is 

that MMWD's distribution system south of Ignacio cannot transport more than 10,000 AF per 

year. 

Kastania Pump Station, built in 1977 by MMWD just south of Petaluma, was able to support the 

historic import needs of both of Marin’s water districts. However, the pump station was thought 

to be unnecessary when the aqueduct was enlarged and relocated during the Highway 101 

expansion in the Novato narrows. Once the Kastania Pump was taken offline, the flow rate 

dropped and MMWD was unable to import the full volume of water contractually available to it.  

MMWD responded to the aqueduct’s new limitation by investing $1.9 million in 2021 to rebuild 

the pump station and enable it to import approximately 11,000 AF per year while still allowing 

North Marin Water District to meet its needs. However, this still falls short of the 14,300 AF per 

year of Russian River water that is contractually available to MMWD. 

Even with the rebuilt Kastania Pump Station, MMWD’s infrastructure in the Ignacio area lacks 

the capacity to transport the full amount of water that could contractually be imported into the 

District. Elimination of the known choke points or system weaknesses would enable MMWD to 

import the full amount contractually available from SCWA.  

Additional Water from the Russian River 

There is potentially more water available from the Russian River than is actually being diverted. 

The SCWA is allowed by the California State Water Board to divert up to 75,000 AF per year 

from the Russian River. However, the state retains the discretion to reduce this amount to 

account for drought or other conditions. Due to conservation by North Bay consumers, the 

aggregate demand on the Russian River is currently only 50,000 to 55,000 AF per year.  

During heavy winter rains, the Russian River has excess flows that could be tapped for Sonoma 

and Marin customers. This “winter water” could be captured, treated, and put directly into 

distribution to MMWD water customers, or else piped and stored in MMWD’s reservoirs or in 

Sonoma County aquifers.  

MMWD has in-county storage capacity with its seven reservoirs which together with North 

Marin Water District’s Stafford Lake are not always full. A pipeline linking Russian River water 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 12 of 23 

directly to Marin’s reservoirs could enable mutual storage partnerships between MMWD and 

SCWA as well as North Marin Water District when the reservoirs have available capacity. This 

could be useful for capturing and storing excess water during infrequent storms in drought 

periods when reservoir levels are low. 

A “river to reservoir” pipeline between Marin reservoirs and Sonoma County would be costly. 

However, it offers the potential of Marin pumping water back to Sonoma during drought periods 

and increasing regional water resiliency. This longer-term option could benefit all of the North 

Bay water agencies. 

Groundwater Banking  

MMWD could potentially supplement its water reserves by partnering with one or more Sonoma 

County water agencies to access and bank water in their underground aquifers. This has been 

under discussion among water agency staff members for both MMWD and the SCWA. In such a 

partnership, MMWD would agree to pump some of its purchased Russian River water into 

Sonoma’s aquifers in return for the right to use a portion of it in the future. Recharging Sonoma’s 

aquifers could be mutually beneficial when MMWD reservoirs are full but more storage is 

needed to maintain a resilient regional supply of water. Potentially, this could be among the more 

cost effective options for increasing storage capacity. 

Clearly there is value to enhancing the partnership between water agencies in the North Bay. 

Sonoma and Marin counties should, because of geography and geology, collaborate more closely 

to enhance their water resiliency. This could include storage agreements involving reservoirs and 

aquifers, capturing more available water from the Russian River, and exploring the feasibility of 

a regional desalination facility.  

Drought-Proof Sources 

The high likelihood of continuing climate change and more extended dry periods places a 

premium on the development of supplies of water that can be maintained through extended 

periods of drought. For example, millions of gallons of readily available treated wastewater are 

being pumped into San Francisco Bay every day. Marin also has an inexhaustible source of 

ocean or bay water as well as brackish groundwater from the Petaluma River basin for potential 

desalination. While these drought-proof sources would require extensive capital investment and 

take years to implement, they could add thousands of acre feet to MMWD’s annual water supply 

and provide some of the resilience needed to survive extended dry periods. 

Water Recycling and Reuse 

As declared in its official policies, MMWD recognizes that recycled water “is an integral part of 

its water supply.”14 Despite statements extolling the importance of recycled water, the reality has 

been somewhat different. In fact, the District’s production of recycled water has languished at 

around 750 AF per year. Two factors suggest the time has come for MMWD to reconsider its 

restrained approach to recycling. First, the likelihood of more frequent, more severe droughts 

places a premium on the development of drought-proof sources of water such as recycling. 

Second, forthcoming statewide regulations will for the first time allow the production of recycled 

water for potable reuse. 

 
14 MMWD Board Policy No. 2, “Recycled Water” (revised 5/21/97). 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 13 of 23 

While there are many issues to work out, there is little question that potable reuse has the 

potential to serve as a cost-efficient means of vastly increasing MMWD’s production of recycled 

water. The time has come for MMWD to fully evaluate and pursue development of this drought-

proof source of water.  

Recycled Water Under Utilized 

To date, MMWD has produced only modest amounts of recycled water, all of it for non-potable 

uses such as irrigation.15 The scope and scale of recycling for non-potable use is constrained by a 

“purple pipe” distribution system, which transports recycled wastewater without any contact with 

drinking water supplies or pipes. Due to the cost of constructing and maintaining these separate 

purple pipe systems, they are best deployed to transport non-potable recycled water to large 

industrial users or large-scale irrigation customers such as agricultural users and golf courses. 

Marin has few such large consumers of recycled non-potable water. Instead, recycled water is 

used principally by smaller customers for small-scale irrigation, toilets, or car washes. Because 

of its geographically diffuse customer base and challenging topography, MMWD faces relatively 

steep costs in extending purple pipes to new service areas.16  

Largely due to these constraints, MMWD’s production of non-potable recycled water remains 

relatively small. The District distributed only 748 AF of recycled water in 2020, which amounts 

to about 2.7 percent of the District’s total water use.17 The District’s planners see little prospect 

for increasing these amounts. Indeed, MMWD has recently projected that total recycled water 

will remain flat at 750 AF per year over the next 25 years.18  

While MMWD has addressed different scenarios for increasing its production of non-potable 

recycled water, it has consistently rejected them as too costly. In January 2016, MMWD and the 

Central Marin Sanitation Agency released a joint “Recycled Water Feasibility Study” which 

evaluated possible recycling projects originating out of the sanitation agency’s wastewater 

treatment facility in San Rafael. After considering no less than 17 alternatives, the study 

recommended a project to extend purple pipe to San Quentin Prison to provide recycled water 

for non-potable uses at the prison. None of these projects was pursued after the study concluded 

that the District’s supply portfolio was sufficient to meet demands, and there was no immediate 

need to invest in infrastructure to secure additional resilience.19 

In sum, while MMWD continues to tout the desirability of recycling, it has yet to identify a path 

forward that would result in significant production of recycled water, nor any meaningful role 

recycling could play in fulfilling the District’s long-term water supply needs. These outcomes 

may yet be attainable but getting there will require MMWD to change its focus. The time has 

come for the District to take a more serious and comprehensive look at the potential that now 

exists in recycling for potable reuse. 

The Emerging Role of Potable Recycled Water 

It is becoming increasingly common in California and elsewhere to use advanced treatment 

facilities to purify wastewater to meet drinking water standards. “Potable water reuse” refers to 

the use of highly treated wastewater to recharge groundwater aquifers or fill reservoirs (referred 

 
15 MMWD, 2020 Water Management Plan, Public Review Draft, May 2021, Section 6.5.3. 
16 MMWD, 2020 Water Management Plan, Public Review Draft, May 2021, Section 6.5.3. 
17 Id., p. 31. 
18 Id., Table 6-5, p. 57. 
19 MMWD, Water Resources Plan 2040, p. 1-2. 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 14 of 23 

to as “indirect potable reuse,”) or to directly connect to drinking water distribution systems 

(referred to as “direct potable reuse”). Potable water reuse enjoys at least one clear advantage 

over traditional water recycling for non-potable use: it does not require construction of costly 

purple pipe networks. The potential for potable water reuse is vast: roughly 30 percent of all 

wastewater collected in California—or about 50 percent of the wastewater discharged to the 

ocean—could be used for potable reuse projects.20 

Both direct and indirect potable reuse entail the initial processing of wastewater at an advanced 

treatment facility, where it undergoes a process of microfiltration, reverse osmosis, and exposure 

to UV light, along with additional treatment. Indirect potable reuse requires storage and filtration 

of the treated water in an environmental buffer such as a groundwater aquifer or surface water 

reservoir. Injection of treated wastewater into groundwater aquifers has been used to augment 

drinking water supplies in Southern California for decades. Unfortunately, due to its lack of 

suitable groundwater aquifers, this form of indirect potable reuse is not feasible in Marin. 

Indirect potable reuse by means of storage and natural filtration in surface water reservoirs has 

come onto the scene much more recently, following adoption of the required regulations by the 

State Water Board in 2018. Southern California is again leading the way in adopting this new 

approach to potable water reuse.21 Given MMWD’s multiple reservoirs, indirect potable reuse 

through surface water augmentation could be feasible in Marin. However, it faces two principal 

drawbacks: the cost of constructing and maintaining the infrastructure needed to transport treated 

wastewater to a suitable reservoir storage site and the limited storage capacity of Marin’s 

reservoirs. 

Neither of the above-mentioned drawbacks applies to direct potable reuse (“DPR”), which does 

not require storage of treated water in reservoirs. With DPR, highly treated wastewater can be 

introduced directly into the District’s potable water distribution system, thus avoiding the 

infrastructure costs and storage limitations of indirect potable reuse. Due to the absence of the 

necessary regulatory framework, no DPR facilities currently exist in California. However, with 

the anticipated adoption of statewide regulations governing DPR by the end of 2023, a new and 

promising avenue for achieving water supply resilience will be opened.22 

Direct Potable Reuse Gaining Traction 

Direct potable reuse is becoming a reality in several locations. Prompted by severe local drought 

conditions, the country’s first DPR facility opened in 2015 in Big Spring, Texas. Texas 

regulators have recently approved a much larger project for El Paso. Multiple demonstration-

scale DPR facilities are currently under construction in Florida. Other states, including Nevada 

and New Mexico, are at various stages of direct potable reuse planning and implementation. 

 
20 Framework for Direct Potable Reuse, WateReuse Project Number: 14-20, (WateReuse Research Foundation: 

Alexandria, Vir.: 2015), p.2 https://watereuse.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/14-20.pdf  
21 Work is currently underway on two projects that will use highly treated wastewater to augment surface water 

reservoirs in San Diego County. The projects are expected to be completed in the 2025-time frame Moulton Nigel 

Water Dist., Urban Water Management Plan, 2020, p.55 https://www.mnwd.com/wp-

content/uploads/2021/06/2020-Urban-Water-Management-Plan_Adopted.pdf  
22 The California Water Board is enacting these regulations in compliance with AB 574, a 2017 state law that 

established a deadline of December 31, 2023 for the development of statewide regulations for raw water 

augmentation, including DPR.  



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 15 of 23 

With the pending adoption of DPR regulations in California, water and sanitation districts in Los 

Angeles and San Diego are planning DPR facilities capable of producing, in the aggregate, 

91,000 AF per year of potable purified wastewater.23 Water agencies in San Francisco, Ventura, 

and Santa Clara are also studying potential DPR projects.24  

In Marin, MMWD and the Central Marin Sanitation Agency have launched an evaluation of a 

DPR project that would build an advanced treatment facility to produce purified wastewater for 

direct introduction into MMWD’s potable water distribution system.25 The project’s recently 

released draft DPR Feasibility Study estimates the new facility could produce approximately 

4,500 AF per year of purified recycled water, at an estimated cost of $2,700 per acre foot.26 The 

timeline for project completion is approximately ten years, so DPR is not a quick fix. However, 

as this study clearly demonstrates, DPR can play a central role in strengthening Marin’s water 

supply resilience over the long term, furnishing a local, drought-proof source of potable water 

that could amount to over 15 percent of the District’s total annual needs from a single facility. 

Because there is a finite amount of wastewater available for processing at any sanitation facility, 

it is important to compare the relative costs and merits of a non-potable purple pipe project (such 

as San Quentin) to a DPR project before committing to either one. MMWD’s most recent 

Financial Plan includes projections for two purple pipe projects, which need to be reconsidered 

in light of the potential for more cost-efficient DPR projects. 

More generally, cost comparisons between DPR and non-potable recycling projects as well as 

with other resiliency measures such as desalination and new pipelines need to be more fully 

developed. In addition to a larger DPR facility at the Central Marin Sanitation Agency, smaller 

advanced treatment facilities could be added at Marin’s other sanitation district sites, thus 

presenting an incremental, scalable means of building DPR capacity. MMWD could partner with 

one or more of these sanitation districts to pursue feasibility studies addressing such facilities. 

More generally, cost comparisons between DPR and non-potable recycling projects – and with 

other resiliency measures such as desalination and new pipelines – need to be more fully 

developed. But in considering these financial analyses sufficient weight also needs to be given to 

the advantage DPR can offer in providing a substantial, completely local, drought-proof supply 

of potable water that is sustainable over the long term.  
  

 
23 “Potable Reuse Projects” WaterReuse California (June 23, 2020) 
24 “Alternative Water Supply Program Quarterly Report” (June 2021) prepared by Water Resources Division, San 

Francisco Water Power Sewer, available at 

https://www.sfpuc.org/sites/default/files/programs/0_Alt%20Water%20Supply%20Planning%20Quarterly%20Repo

rt_June2021_FINAL.pdf  
25 Central Marin Sanitation Agency, Direct Potable Reuse Feasibility Study, (Draft, March 2022) (“DPR Feasibility 

Study”)  
26 Id. at p. ES-6. 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 16 of 23 

 
Central Marin Sanitation Facility in San Rafael 

Photo courtesy of Central Marin Sanitation Agency 

Public Acceptance 

Successfully implementing potable reuse as a meaningful source of drinking water depends in 

part upon public perception, which can be cultivated with effective public information programs. 

In fact, public acceptance of recycled water is growing.  

Beginning in the early 1990’s, various Southern California jurisdictions encountered public and 

political opposition to their plans to recharge groundwater aquifers with highly treated 

wastewater.27 Fueled by inflammatory catchphrases such as “toilet to tap,” opponents sought to 

amplify consumers’ reflexive reluctance to embrace this new water source.28 Learning from 

these early setbacks, subsequent efforts adopted a more proactive approach, featuring extended 

public outreach and education aimed at demonstrating the efficacy of the latest wastewater 

treatment technologies in producing safe and pure drinking water. As more jurisdictions have 

deployed potable recycled water to augment their drinking water supplies, public acceptance has 

grown.  

In the past, MMWD’s strategic planning has reflected a high degree of skepticism, observing that 

DPR will be “extremely challenging, if not infeasible, from both permitting and public 

acceptance perspectives.”29 With statewide regulations on the horizon, it is now clear that a lack 

of permitting should not render DPR “infeasible.” Five years ago, MMWD acknowledged that 

“public acceptance of recycled water and potable reuse has changed as a result of the severity of 

the [2011-2017] drought.”30 In evaluating the feasibility of DPR in Marin, MMWD should again 

 
27 Smith, C. “California Invests in Recycled Water as Droughts Take a Toll” available at 

https://www.governing.com/_preview?_cms.db.previewId=0000017b-0cba-df66-af7b-1dfe3e2b0000&_date= 
28 Id. 
29 MMWD, Water Resources Plan 2040, Resiliency Options, pp. 6 of 83, 9 of 83, 12 of 83. 
30 MMWD, Water Resources Plan 2040, p. 9-3 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 17 of 23 

take stock of shifting public attitudes, and consider how it and other stakeholders can further 

impact those attitudes with effective outreach and education. Undue skepticism about the 

public’s willingness to accept potable reuse need not hinder progress. 

Desalination 

Desalination is a potential drought-proof source of water that could supplement rainwater 

supplies, although not without high relative costs and potential operating and environmental 

issues. Partnership with other districts could mitigate these cost burdens and make this option 

more attractive. Multi-agency partnership for a regional desalination plant should be on the table 

as an option for MMWD. The economies of scale from larger multi-jurisdictional desalination 

projects could make them preferable to going it alone. 

Desalination of salt water to produce potable water has been used for thousands of years. 

Originally desalination required boiling and then recondensing water, leaving salt solids behind. 

In the late 1950’s, membrane technology was developed to enable scalable desalination of salt 

water by filtering. Reverse osmosis technology has made membrane desalination less energy-

intensive and more cost-effective, requiring about half of the energy per volume of water as the 

most efficient distillation method. Reverse osmosis is the predominant method of desalination 

used today.31 

Figure 4: Desalination by Reverse Osmosis Simplified Flow Diagram 

 
Graphic courtesy of Marin Municipal Water District 

The energy required and thus the cost to desalinate water is directly proportional to the amount 

of salt and other solids present. For example, desalination of seawater can require almost four 

times as much energy as desalting brackish water in river deltas or in underground aquifers 

where salt and freshwater mix.32  

Challenges to desalination include initial construction costs, impact on marine life from the 

saltwater intake, high energy requirements, operating complexity, inability to cycle the plant on 

and off, and disposal of the concentrated salt byproduct called brine. These challenges can be 

mitigated by creating economies of scale with high volume production, and by carefully 

selecting the location of the unit–for example in proximity to a power plant, with large amounts 

of electricity available and cooling water for diluting the brine. Neither of these two mitigating 

factors would be available to a local desalination plant serving MMWD exclusively because of 

low throughput and challenging location. 

 
31 David L. Sedlak, Water 4.0: The Past, Present and Future of the World’s Most Valuable Resource (New Haven: 

Yale University Press, 2014), pp. 218-224. 
32 Manseh Kumar, Tyler Kulp and Yuexaio Shen, Water Desalination: History, Advances and Challenges, Frontiers 

of Engineering: Reports on Leading-Edge Engineering from the 2016 Symposium (Washington D.C.: The National 

Academies Press, 2017), p. 56. 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 18 of 23 

Large scale desalination plants that produce potable 

water for major population centers are in use around 

the world. A notable example is a plant in San Diego 

County that produces 50 million gallons per day or 

more than 56,000 AF per year. The plant, pictured at 

left, is situated on 95 acres adjacent to the Encina 

Power Station and owned and operated by Poseidon 

Water. The Poseidon plant started operation in 2015 

and reports that it produces water for ½ cent per 

gallon, or $1,600 per AF, in large part due to its high 

volume.33  
 

MMWD undertook a much smaller desalination pilot 

project located near the Marin Rod & Gun Club in 

San Rafael in 2005-2006. The pilot plant produced 5 

million gallons per day, or more than 5,000 AF per 

year. Because the pilot plant was not intended to be permanent, it was dismantled at the 

conclusion of the successful trial period. The 2007-08 Marin Civil Grand Jury recommended 

making a yes or no decision about proceeding with a permanent desalination project in its report 

Sustaining Marin’s Fragile Water Supply.34 In response to public concerns about the cost, 

environmental impact, and other issues associated with desalination, the District placed Measure 

S on the ballot, which was approved by the voters in 2010. Measure S requires “voter approval 

before the Marin Municipal Water District approves constructing, or financing the construction 

of, a desalination facility.”35 Since the passage of Measure S, the issue of building a desalination 

project has not been brought before Marin’s voters. 

In 2010, a consortium of the five largest water districts in the Bay Area funded a regional 

desalination study, and a pilot plant was built and operated in Pittsburg, Contra Costa County, 

treating brackish delta water. This study envisioned a plant capable of producing 22,000 AF per 

year at this location, with an estimated cost of $200 million in 2010 dollars. The Pittsburg 

location was chosen for its lower salinity and its proximity to power plants and major water 

pipelines.36 MMWD was not a partner in this project. It could consider joining the consortium if 

the project were to be reactivated in the future, but only if a pipeline to the East Bay is built.  

In 2021, MMWD considered an emergency drought relief project to install a portable 

desalination unit of about 5 million gallons per day capacity at the same site as the 2006 project. 

Due to the relatively small capacity and high cost, this option has not been pursued beyond 

feasibility studies. 

MMWD’s 2040 Water Resources Plan lists three potential Marin sites for a 5 million gallon per 

day seawater desalination plant. The estimated capital costs range from $170 million to $220 

million and annual operating costs from $2 million to $4 million, resulting in delivered water 

costs from $2600 to $3500 per AF. 

 
33 Claude “Bud” Lewis Carlsbad Desalination Plant, “Homepage.” https://www.carlsbaddesal.com 
34 Marin County Civil Grand Jury 2007-2008, Sustaining Our Fragile Water Supply, May 20, 2008, p. 15. 
35 Marin County Elections Department, Past Elections Results and Information, November 2, 2010, Measure S. 

https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/rv/elections/past/2010/november/ballot-

measures/measures.pdf 
36 Bay Area Regional Desalination Project, “Homepage.” https://www.regionaldesal.org 

 

Carlsbad Desalination Plant 
Photo courtesy of Poseidon Water 



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 19 of 23 

Partnership in an East Bay regional desalination project is also shown as an option in the Water 

Resources Plan 2040.37 This option has the highest estimated cost at $4,500 per AF because it 

includes not only MMWD’s share of the desalination plant cost, but also the full cost of a 

pipeline across the Richmond-San Rafael Bridge.  

Potential Sonoma Desalination Partnership  

An additional opportunity for collaboration could exist with the Sonoma County Water Agency 

in the development of a desalting facility for brackish groundwater in the Petaluma Valley 

Aquifer located near the mouth of the Petaluma River. Groundwater desalting is similar to 

brackish water desalination in that the input water has lower salinity than seawater. A 10 million 

gallon per day groundwater desalting plant operated by the Alameda County Water District has 

been in operation in Newark since 2003.38 Similar plants are being used to remove salts from 

groundwater throughout California.39 The Petaluma Aquifer project would likely be a long-term, 

multi-agency endeavor. While it has not yet been thoroughly evaluated, it has real potential and 

presents a promising opportunity for further exploration. 

Because of the high initial investment and operating costs of desalination, MMWD would be 

better served by partnering with other water agencies to develop such a project. Partnering with 

another district or districts would give a desalination project sufficient scale to improve its 

viability. MMWD should prioritize its investigation into opportunities for a long-term drought-

proof desalination partnership. 

Financing Water Resilience  

For MMWD to achieve acceptable water resilience will require a substantial capital investment. 

This will likely necessitate multiple rate increases together with new bond issues, and an 

aggressive pursuit of federal and state grants. The cost of acquiring a reliable supply of an 

additional 10,000 to 15,000 AF per year over the next decade is beyond MMWD’s current 

financial capacity. There is an urgent need to develop and communicate an actionable plan for 

financing water resilience. 

Based on outdated cost estimates in MMWD’s 7-year-old 2040 Water Resources Plan as well as 

more recent studies, capital projects needed to achieve a four year supply of water could cost 

$100 million to over $200 million. For example, among the listed projects are: 

■ A water reuse facility at the Central Marin Sanitation Agency to purify recycled water for 

delivery directly to the MMWD distribution system, at a recently estimated capital cost of 

$122 million to produce 4,500 AF per year 

■ A Richardson Bay desalination plant at a projected capital cost from the Water Resources 

Plan of $171 million to produce 4,000 AF per year 

■ A pipeline across the Richmond San Rafael Bridge with a more-recently estimated capital 

cost of $100 million to supply up to 10,000 AF per year. 

 
37 MMWD, Water Resources Plan 2040, Appendix F pp. 68-77. 
38 Alameda County Water District, “Newark Desalination Facility.” https://www.acwd.org/383/Newark-

Desalination-Facility 
39 Devika G. Bansal, “Desalination of Aquifers Offers Drought-weary California New Hope,” San Jose Mercury 

News, February 5, 2017. WATER 2-5 Desalination of aquifers offers drought-weary California new hope  



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 20 of 23 

These cost estimates will be updated in a study recently commissioned by MMWD to review 

water resilience options with a delivery date of July 2022.  

Impact on Water Rates  

Financing resilience will require an additional level of capital investment on top of MMWD’s 

current cost structure and rate levels which are concentrated on operations and infrastructure 

maintenance. District customers will have to pay more for water resilience.  

Capital projects are typically funded through the issuance of long-term bond debt that is repaid 

over time by district customers through water rates and special fees. For example, MMWD 

recently outlined a plan for financing a $100 million bond for the Richmond Bridge pipeline with 

an assumed interest rate of 3 percent, requiring a 4 percent increase in water rates to service that 

debt. A $200 million bond could require a water rate increase on the order of 8 percent. 

The capacity of MMWD to issue debt is limited. For MMWD to maintain its AA bond rating 

needed to qualify for optimal interest rates, the District’s revenue levels and cash reserves must 

meet a minimum 1.25 debt service coverage ratio, meaning 125 percent of the amount required 

to make the annual debt payments. Revenue declines adversely impact the capacity to issue 

additional bonds.  

MMWD currently has $139 million in outstanding bond debt. The District has the capacity to 

raise up to an additional $150 million for water resilience, provided it increases rates and fees to 

compensate for inflation and declining water sales from conservation.  

MMWD’s water sales revenue declined by 35 percent through February of Fiscal Year 2022, 

versus the comparable prior year period. This caused the District to draw down its reserve funds 

by as much as $20 million. As a result of the revenue declines, the District's debt service 

coverage ratio has dropped from over 2 to a current 1.4.  

Taken together, the conservation-driven loss in revenue, the need to continue funding 

infrastructure maintenance, and a push to improve water resilience will require a significant 

increase in water rates. For example, maintaining the optimal AA bond rating and funding 

resilience projects of $150 million could require water rates to increase in the range of 7 to 10 

percent. 

California Proposition 218 prescribes a process for rate increases.40 Rate increases must be 

justified by a Cost of Service Analysis and cannot be opposed by more than 50 percent of the 

ratepayers. This process can take up to one year to complete. MMWD would benefit from 

developing a comprehensive resilience plan, including the necessary supporting rate increases. 

MMWD has an established Capital Maintenance Fee specifically dedicated to finance 

maintenance of its infrastructure, including dams and its aging distribution network. This fee 

raises about $18 million per year. A similar fee could be established to help fund water 

resilience. It would not be subject to revenue declines from lower water sales. Money raised by 

such a fee could be used exclusively to service water resilience bonds.  

  

 
40 California Legislative Analyst’s Office, “Understanding Proposition 218,” December 1996. 

https://lao.ca.gov/1996/120196_prop_218/understanding_prop218_1296.html  



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 21 of 23 

Grants 

The federal Infrastructure and Jobs Act of 2021 provides $48.5 billion over five years for 

drinking water and wastewater spending.41 Included in this bill is $1 billion for water recycling 

projects and $250 million for water desalination projects as well as $8 billion for pipeline 

projects, $100 million for enhancing storage capacity, and $400 million for resilience projects 

that contribute to drought resilience and environmental protection. Some of these funds could be 

available to MMWD for many of the options it has for strengthening its water resilience. 

Additional money may be available from the State of California. 

To compete for federal and state grant funding, MMWD would benefit by collaborating with 

other water agencies such as the North Marin Water District, SCWA, and East Bay agencies with 

larger served populations. MMWD has historically operated for the most part as an independent 

agency that serves a relatively small population. Only recently has the District tasked a staff 

member with government relations and the pursuit of grants. 

A Water Resilience Action Plan  

MMWD needs to do more to improve its water resilience. The District came perilously close to 

running out of water in 2022 and rainfall projections have proven to be faulty in the face of 

continuing climate change. Conservation is essential but it is not enough to ensure a reliable 

water supply, particularly with state mandates for thousands of new homes. MMWD is updating 

its plans for expanding its water supplies. These plans include options for adding reliable 

drought-proof sources from water recycling or desalination. They also include short-term options 

for enhancing supply by expanding MMWD’s relationship with Sonoma water agencies or by 

rebuilding a Bay Bridge pipeline to import water from the Central Valley. It will be up to the 

District to put these updated plans to use in identifying and executing an effective strategy for 

securing water resilience. Planning, while necessary, is not enough. What’s urgently needed now 

is decisive action. 

Upon receipt of the updated resiliency cost projections expected in July, the Grand Jury urges the 

District to promptly identify the most effective strategy for acquiring additional long-term 

drought proof water sources. Once these preferred sources have been identified, the District 

should prepare and publicly disseminate a Water Resilience Action Plan fully describing its 

strategy and including a credible financing plan for addressing projected costs and establishing a 

means of payment.  

 

FINDINGS 

F1. The prospect of Marin Municipal Water District’s reservoirs running dry within a year 

shows that the District has fallen short in its efforts to ensure a long-term resilient supply 

of water for its customers. The District and its ratepayers are vulnerable to the increasing 

likelihood of water shortfalls. 

F2. Due to a failure to fully develop and act on long-term water resilience plans, Marin 

Municipal Water District left itself with only the expensive Richmond Bridge pipeline 

 
41 U.S. Congress, “H.R. 3684 - Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act,” 117th Congress (2021-2022). 

https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/3684/text  



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 22 of 23 

option for responding to the drought emergency, which could have preempted pursuit of 

other means of establishing long-term water resilience.  

F3. Marin Municipal Water District has not adequately addressed climate change in 

developing its long-term water supply plans to date. Relying on historical data to predict 

future rainfall is not sufficient given ongoing and future changes in the climate.  

F4. Even with ongoing successful conservation efforts, Marin Municipal Water District will 

need additional sources of water and storage capacity to provide a long-term reliable 

water supply for its ratepayers. 

F5. Marin Municipal Water District has been slow to adopt proven Advanced Metering 

Infrastructure technology, which could enhance conservation by providing the District 

and its customers with real time data on water use and repairable leaks. 

F6. Marin Municipal Water District could enhance its water resilience by constructing an 

East Bay pipeline for importing additional water. This option would also enable MMWD 

to participate in a regional desalination project and add storage capacity in the Los 

Vaqueros Reservoir.  

F7. Marin Municipal Water District could improve its water supply resilience by 

restructuring its relationship with the Sonoma County Water Agency in order to increase 

imports and potentially develop additional storage capacity. 

F8. Drought-proof supplies of water will become increasingly important in the coming years, 

with climate change-induced droughts expected to become more frequent and severe. 

F9. Marin Municipal Water District has failed to place sufficient priority on development of 

drought-proof sources of water, such as recycling programs and regional desalination 

projects. 

F10. The use of direct potable reuse presents a reliable, drought-proof, and cost-effective 

option for securing a substantial volume of additional potable water from within the 

Marin Municipal Water District.  

F11. The use of direct potable reuse is a potentially more efficient and impactful use of 

wastewater, as compared to recycling that wastewater for non-potable use in a “purple 

pipe” system. 

F12. Desalination is a feasible, drought-proof option for producing additional water for the 

Marin Municipal Water District. 

F13. Marin Municipal Water District participation in a large-scale regional desalination project 

is likely the most feasible desalination option that could provide an additional drought-

proof source of water. 

F14. The measures needed to secure long-term water resilience will require additional funding 

and higher water rates for Marin Municipal Water District’s ratepayers. 

F15. Marin Municipal Water District would improve its chances of receiving federal and state 

water resilience grant money by participating in regional partnerships. 

F16. Marin Municipal Water District could significantly enhance water supply resilience and 

improve risk management during droughts, earthquakes, and other natural disasters by 

increasing its participation in regional partnerships with other water agencies. 

  



A Roadmap to Water Resilience for Marin Municipal Water District 
 

Marin County Civil Grand Jury   Page 23 of 23 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

R1. By September 30, 2022, the Marin Municipal Water District should commit to securing 

10,000 to 15,000 AF per year of additional water supply before 2035. 

R2. By December 31, 2022, Marin Municipal Water District should develop and act on a 

detailed long-term roadmap to resilience by identifying and prioritizing sources of 

additional supply. 

R3. In its resilience roadmap, Marin Municipal Water District should prioritize the 

development of drought-proof sources of water, including direct potable reuse and 

regional desalination.  

R4. In its resilience roadmap, Marin Municipal Water District should include strategies for 

collaborating with other Bay Area water districts to enhance its competitiveness in 

seeking federal and state grants. 

R5. By December 31, 2022, Marin Municipal Water District should adopt a near-term plan 

for increasing Russian River imports and expanding the District’s relationship with the 

Sonoma County Water Agency.  

R6. By December 31, 2022, the Marin Municipal Water District should commit to completing 

a District-wide installation of Advanced Metering Infrastructure by the end of 2024. 

R7. By December 31, 2022, Marin Municipal Water District should develop a long-term plan 

for financing the prioritized resilience options and communicate this information to 

ratepayers. 

 

REQUEST FOR RESPONSES 

Pursuant to Penal code section 933.05, the grand jury requests responses as follows: 

From the following governing body: 

■ Marin Municipal Water District Board of Directors (F1-F16, R1-R7) 

The governing body indicated above should be aware that the comment or response of the 

governing body must be conducted in accordance with Penal Code section 933 (c) and subject to 

the notice, agenda, and open meeting requirements of the Brown Act. 

Note: At the time this report was prepared information was available at the websites listed. 

 

Reports issued by the Civil Grand Jury do not identify individuals interviewed. Penal Code Section 929 requires that 

reports of the Grand Jury not contain the name of any person or facts leading to the identity of any person who provides 

information to the Civil Grand Jury. The California State Legislature has stated that it intends the provisions of Penal Code 

Section 929 prohibiting disclosure of witness identities to encourage full candor in testimony in Grand Jury investigations 

by protecting the privacy and confidentiality of those who participate in any Civil Grand Jury investigation. 

 



Item Number: 03 
Meeting Date: 08-25-2022 
Meeting: Finance & 
Administration Committee/ 
Board of Directors (Finance & 
Administration)  

 

P a g e  1 | 2 
 

Informational Item  
 

TO: Finance & Administration Committee/Board of Directors (Finance & Administration) 
 
FROM: Bret Uppendahl, Finance Director 
 
THROUGH: Crystal Yezman for Ben Horenstein, General Manager  
  
DIVISION NAME: Administrative Services Division 
  
ITEM: Monthly Financial Update as of June 30, 2022  

 
 
SUMMARY 
The Monthly Financial Update provides an overview of the fiscal year-end preliminary financials 
pending final year-end accruals. As of June 2022, the fiscal year-to-date total revenue is $101.0 
million, or 90.7 percent of budgeted revenue, and total expenditure is $118.0 million, or 85.8 
percent of budgeted expenditure. It is notable that water sales, including fixed charges, are 
down by approximately 14.13 percent compared to the prior year as conservation efforts are 
realized.  The unrestricted operating fund balance is $20.4 million, which is 2.61 months of 
annualized operating budget.   
 
DISCUSSION 
Budget to Actual Comparison – All Funds 
The budget to actual comparison is prepared by fund and includes revenues, expenditures and 
reserve balances.  For the Operating Fund, total revenues before fiscal year-end accruals as of 
June 30, 2022 are $78.2 million, or 88.1 percent of budget.  Total operating expenditures before 
fiscal year-end accruals of $88.7 million, not including depreciation and amortization, are 94.5 
percent of budget.   
 
For the Capital and Fire Flow Funds, total revenues are $22.8 million, or 100.6 percent of budget, 
and are comprised primarily of CMF funds of $16.5 million.  Spending on capital and fire flow 
projects is $29.2 million, or 67.1 percent of budget as of June 30, 2022, as CIP projects typically 
do not follow smooth trends in expenditures.  It should be noted that an additional $6.1 million 
is encumbered, bringing total expenditures with encumbrances to $35.3 million, or 81.0 percent 
of budget. 

 



Item Number: 03 
Meeting Date: 08-25-2022 

 
 

P a g e  2 | 2 
 

Water Sales and Consumption 
The fiscal year to date water sales through June 30, 2022 were $46.1 million, which is 78.9 
percent of the annual water sales forecast. Billed water consumption through June 30, 2022 
was 18,888 AF, which is 22.6 percent lower than this time last year. 
 
Year-to-date water sales and fixed charges (Service and Watershed Fees) through June 30, 2022 
were $72.9 million, which is 84.8 percent of total annual revenue forecast of $86.0 million. 
Compared to the same period for the previous fiscal year water sales and fixed charges 
decreased by $12 million or 14.1 percent. 

As shown in Attachment 5, the total outstanding accounts receivable has declined by 33 
percent since June 2021. The largest improvements have been realized in longer term 
delinquencies, with a 36 percent reduction in accounts delinquent by more than 180 days.   

Forecasts 
Staff continues to assess the short term and long term impacts of reduced water sales and 
projections for FY 23 will be revised throughout the year as additional data is available. 
Assuming that water consumption remains consistent with recent trends, the District will face 
operating losses of $12 to $15 million. Under these circumstances, unbudgeted expenditures 
such as water purchases or pumping costs will likely consume most of the remaining 
Unrestricted Fund Balance by the end of the fiscal year.  
 
In order to mitigate the use of reserves, Staff is taking targeted actions to reduce expenditures. 
These include delaying recruitments for open positions, deferring vehicle and equipment 
replacements, capping annual water conservation rebate funding, deferring and reprioritizing 
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) expenditures, and utilizing the Capital Maintenance Fee to pay 
existing debt service in FY22 and FY23. Staff is also reviewing revenue enhancement options 
such as increasing watershed use fees, charging sanitary districts for billing support and selling 
surplus material and property.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
1. Total Water Sales FY 2022 
2. Billed Water Consumption in AFs FY 2011 – 2022 
3. Budget to Actual Comparison for FY 2022    
4. CIP Budget to Actual Comparison for FY 2022  
5. Water Accounts Receivable Aging FY 2019 to FY 2022 
 



Month

July

August

September

October

November

December

January

February

March

April

May

June

TOTAL

Total Water Sales and Fixed Charges & Fees

Fiscal Years 2020/21 - 2021/22

20/21 21/22 21/22 20/21 21/22 21/22 20/21 21/22 21/22 20/21 21/22 21/22

Actual Budget Actual Actual Budget Actual  Actual Budget  Actual Actual Budget Actual

5,148,860      $4,840,348 3,893,617       1,408,195      1,541,834          1,432,518         322,117       352,676       332,621       6,879,172       6,734,858$   5,658,756        

7,895,649      $8,155,135 5,886,691       2,003,578      2,193,720          2,074,186         439,045       480,697       455,201       10,338,272     10,829,551      8,416,079        

5,919,811      $5,825,972 4,294,155       1,410,919      1,544,817          1,481,820         321,199       351,671       342,629       7,651,930       7,722,460        6,118,604        

7,930,465      $7,823,307 5,453,392       1,999,518      2,189,274          2,192,958         437,931       479,477       477,901       10,367,913     10,492,057      8,124,251        

4,977,568      $4,816,404 2,677,846       1,416,720      1,551,168          1,486,790         321,799       352,328       346,372       6,716,088       6,719,900        4,511,008        

6,216,270      $5,794,180 3,552,122       2,013,149      2,204,199          2,031,521         441,057       482,900       441,494       8,670,476       8,481,278        6,025,136        

2,624,605      $2,544,160 1,664,573       1,405,078      1,538,421          1,135,794         318,852       349,101       255,662       4,348,535       4,431,682        3,056,029        

3,594,233      $3,566,451 3,880,028       1,992,768      2,181,884          2,641,800         437,055       478,518       593,654       6,024,056       6,226,853        7,115,482        

1,978,100      $2,097,854 2,285,758       1,400,299      1,533,189          1,539,758         319,385       349,685       355,428       3,697,784       3,980,727        4,180,944        

3,972,353      $3,930,424 4,289,931       2,047,123      2,241,396          2,160,928         441,798       483,711       473,692       6,461,274       6,655,531        6,924,551        

3,367,351      $3,059,352 2,973,096       1,382,615      1,513,826          1,509,254         320,761       351,191       348,806       5,070,727       4,924,370        4,831,157        

6,153,533      $6,029,493 5,263,679       2,052,718      2,247,523          2,185,486         451,028       493,817       476,641       8,657,279       8,770,833        7,925,806        

59,778,799    $58,483,079 46,114,888     20,532,680    $22,481,250 21,872,815       4,572,027    $5,005,772 4,900,101    $84,883,506 $85,970,101 $72,887,804

Original Budget-to-Actual Basis -15.22%

Actual-to-Actual Basis -14.13%

% of total budget received 84.78%

Fixed Charges

Total Water Sales and Fixed ChargesWater Sales Watershed FeeService Charges

Item Number: 03
   Attachment: 01



Monthly 

Actual to 

Actual

10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 2021 21/22 21/22 Budget %

Month Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Budget Actual Variance Change

July 1,968         1,852         2,160         2,205         1,969       1,628       1,876       1,931         1,975       1,834         2,022         1,940         1,642       -15.36% -18.77%

August 3,457         3,154         3,564         3,407         3,186       2,620       3,012       3,206         3,245       3,112         3,215         3,194         2,500       -21.74% -22.24%

September 2,309         2,175         2,333         2,244         1,973       1,775       1,939       2,027         2,145       2,112         2,205         2,122         1,604       -24.41% -27.24%

October 3,286         3,045         3,163         3,215         2,778       2,583       2,767       3,140         2,951       3,058         3,124         3,068         2,293       -25.25% -26.58%

November 1,628         1,585         1,586         1,931         1,454       1,490       1,340       1,705         1,664       1,837         1,882         1,772         1,153       -34.94% -38.73%

December 1,784         1,986         1,911         2,433         1,984       1,935       1,646       1,914         2,169       2,295         2,418         2,199         1,439       -34.57% -40.49%

January 1,071         1,200         1,005         1,342         1,065       991          910          942 993          1,186         1,157         1,070         735 -31.31% -36.49%

February 1,625         1,858         1,680         1,996         1,651       1,450       1,392       1,754         1,525       1,556         1,625         1,615         1,646       1.89% 1.25%

March 958 1,079         1,054         1,042         1,048       832          846          992 879          1,105         970 986 948 -3.91% -2.27%

April 1,640         1,676         2,016         1,627         1,910       1,467       1,375       1,612         1,427       1,883         1,775         1,674         1,717       2.57% -3.25%

May 1,321         1,266         1,655         1,308         1,379       1,067       1,092       1,240         1,224       1,378         1,459         1,325         1,209       -8.74% -17.09%

June 2,568         2,789         3,161         2,642         2,344       2,478       2,416       2,516         2,349       2,711         2,559         2,533         2,002       -20.98% -21.76%

TOTAL 23,614       23,666       25,290       25,390       22,742     20,316     20,611     22,978       22,546     24,065       24,410       23,500       18,888     

-19.62%

-22.62%

80.38%

Billed Water Consumption In AF

Fiscal Year 2010/11 - 2020/21

Budget-to-Actual Basis

Actual-to-Actual Basis

% of total budget

Item Number: 03
   Attachment: 02



Operating Fund

2021/22 Adjusted Actual as of % of 

Budget June 30, 2022 Budget

Revenues:

Water Sales and Service Charge:

Water Sales 58,483,079$    46,114,888$    78.9%

Service Charge 22,481,250 21,872,815 97.3%

Watershed Management Fee 5,005,772 4,900,101 97.9%

Total Water Sales and Service Charge 85,970,101 72,887,804 84.8%

Other Revenues:

Rents 666,903 733,929 110.1%

Grants - 2,470,332 

Watershed Rents 939,166 968,271 103.1%

Watershed Payments 365,116 446,283 122.2%

Late Payment and Special Read Charges 120,133 132,002 109.9%

Interest 336,497 277,330 82.4%

Miscellaneous 350,647 274,719 78.3%

Total Other Revenues 2,778,462 5,302,866 190.9%

Total Operating Revenues 88,748,563 78,190,670 88.1%

Expenditures:

Personnel services 53,772,177 49,791,493 92.6%

Materials and supplies 3,218,135 2,382,664 74.0%

Operations 8,940,923 7,737,418 86.5%

Water conservation rebate program 1,790,323 1,691,904 94.5%

Electrical power 5,477,922 4,289,164 78.3%

Water purchased 8,100,000 12,099,197 149.4%

Insurance, including claims 1,425,500 2,018,717 141.6%

General and administrative 6,124,407 4,737,163 77.3%

Debt service - interest and principal 10,184,004 9,179,606 90.1%

Overhead cost allocated to capital (5,197,000) (5,213,913) 100.3%

Total Operating Expenditures 93,836,390 88,713,413 94.5%

Transfer out to Capital Fund (PayGo) - - 

Net Operating Fund Increase(Decrease) (5,087,827)$    (10,522,743)$    

Operating Fund Balance

Opening Fund Balance (Unrestricted) 32,619,471$    32,619,471$    

Net Operating Fund Increase(Decrease) (5,087,827) (10,522,743) 

Transfer (to)/from Rate Stabilization Fund 1,808,000 

Accrual adjustments 398 (3,500,000) 

Ending Fund Balance 27,532,042$    20,404,728$    

Marin Municipal Water District

Budget to Actual Comparison for 2021/22 - All Funds

Actual as of June 30, 2022

Preliminary Unaudited

 Revenues and Expenditures 

Item Number: 03
   Attachment: 03



Marin Municipal Water District

Budget to Actual Comparison for 2021/22 - All Funds

Actual as of June 30, 2022

Preliminary Unaudited

Capital and Fire Flow Funds
Actual as of % of  

Budget June 30, 2022 Budget

Revenues:

Customer Reimbursement Project 710,182$                      540,349$                         76.1%

Interest Income 15,000                          1,688                               11.3%

Transfer-in from Operating (PayGo) -                                -                                   

Contributed Capital:

Fire Flow 4,500,000                     4,525,100                        100.6%

Capital Maintenance Fee 17,370,793                   16,450,123                      94.7%

Capital Connection Fee 100,000                        812,877                           812.9%

Capital Grants & Contribution 509,392                           

Total Revenues and Contributed Capital 22,695,975                   22,839,528                      100.6%

Capital Expenditures:

Capital Projects - District 33,618,907                   23,888,653                      71.1%

Capital Projects - Fire Flow 7,660,774                     4,203,002                        54.9%

Capital equipment purchases 2,290,805                     1,146,016                        50.0%

Total Capital and Fire Flow Expenditures 43,570,485                   29,237,670                      67.1%

Net Capital and Fire Flow Fund Increase(Decrease)
(20,874,510)$                (6,398,142)$                    

30.7%

Capital Fund Balance

Capital Fund

Opening Fund Balance 21,061,136$                 21,061,136$                    

Net Capital  Fund Increase(Decrease) (17,713,737)                  (5,574,224)                      

Transfer (to)/from Rate Stabilization Fund 5,650,000                        

Capital equipment purchases (1,146,016)                      

Accrual adjustments 3,809,223                     (1,034,159)                      

Ending Fund Balance 7,156,622$                   18,956,737$                    

Fire Flow Fund

Opening Fund Balance 3,139,821$                   3,139,821$                      

Net Fire Flow Fund Increase(Decrease) (3,160,774)                    322,098                           

Accrual adjustments -                                    (674)                                 

Ending Fund Balance (20,953)$                       3,461,245$                      

 Revenues and Expenditures 



 As of 6/30/22  As of 6/30/22  As of 6/30/22

District Pipeline Replacement / Improvement 15,060,459$        11,393,251$        2,635,274$          14,028,525$        

Replacements - Tank Maintenance & Replacement 1,951,999$          1,301,521$          626,641$  1,928,162$          

Replacements - Treatment Plant Facilities 5,428,022$          4,200,277$          990,216$  5,190,493$          Replacements - Capital Contingency Fund -              

Replacements - Dam/Pump/Control System/Meters 3,952,507$          3,418,972$          153,564$  3,572,536$          

Fire Chief's Fund 143,855$  -$       - -$       

Program Management- Asset Mangement 411,569$  153,148$  254,290 407,437$  

System Improvements 487,692$  282,506$  149,644$  432,150$  

Watershed - Minor Structures I/R/R 36,088 23,695 4,288 27,983$  

Watershed - Ranger Residence & Minor Structure Improvement - - - -$       

Watershed - Trail Repair and Improvement 100,000 50,000 50,000 100,000$  

Watershed - Road Repair & Improvement 791,970 97,336 73,942 171,278$  

Watershed - Natural Resource Project 2,121,563 1,730,736 269,502 2,000,238$          

Reimbursable Grant Projects 1,260,741 323,366 145,929 469,294$  

Reimbursable Customer Projects 1,546,687$          892,945$  2,508$   895,453$  

Information Technology - Capital Equipments/Projects 325,755$  20,900$  52,944$  73,844$  

Fire Flow Replacement 7,660,774$          4,203,002$          321,390$  4,524,392$          

Capital Equipment Purchases 2,290,805$          1,146,016$          325,674$  1,471,689$          

Total Capital Projects 43,570,485$        29,237,670$        6,055,804$          35,293,474$        

Capital Projects YTD 

Actual Expenditures   

 Encumbered for 

Contracts 

 Total Capital & Fire 

Flow CIP Projects
FY2021/22    

Adjusted Budget   

8

Item Number: 03
   Attachment: 04



Water Accounts Receivables
FY 2019 to FY 2022

Water Accounts Receivable Aging  (in $1,000)

 No. of Days As of As of As of As of
 Outstanding June 2019 June 2020 June 2021 June 2022
 <= 30 days 416 612 711 506
 <= 60 days 170 556 522 371
 <= 90 days 27 280 286 200
 <= 180 days 84 419 781 483
 <= 365 days 63 128 1,087 711

 Total $760 $1,995 $3,387 $2,271
% change 163% 70% -33%

Water Accounts Receivable by Account Type
60 Days Past Due (in $1,000)

As of As of As of As of
 Customer Class June 2019 June 2020 June 2021 June 2022
 Single Family Res. 107 353 302 274
 Duplex 3 7 11 9
 Multi Units 7 45 47 23
 Business & Institutional 50 89 143 39
 Irrigation 1 42 3 15
 Recycled & Fireline 2 20 16 11

 Total $170 $556 $522 $371
% change 227% -6% -29%

Item Number: 03
   Attachment: 05



Item Number: 04 
Meeting Date: 08-25-2022 
Meeting: Finance & 
Administration Committee/ 
Board of Directors (Finance & 
Administration) 

P  a  g e  1 | 1

Informational Item 

TO: Finance & Administration Committee/Board of Directors (Finance & Administration) 

FROM: Bret Uppendahl, Finance Director 

THROUGH: Crystal Yezman for Ben Horenstein, General Manager  

DIVISION NAME: Administrative Services Division 

ITEM: Quarterly Investment Report – June 2022 

SUMMARY 
Pursuant to District Investment Policy No. 33, the quarterly investment report is submitted to 
the Board for the quarter ending June 30, 2022.  

The District’s investment portfolio (pooled cash) carried a market value of $67.6 million as of 
the end of June.  The investments held included $63.2 million on deposit in the Local Agency 
Investment Fund (LAIF), $0.7 million on deposit in the Fidelity Government Money Market 
Fund, and $3.6 million in the District’s general checking account.  Fiscal year to date interest 
earned as of June on the District’s portfolio totaled $270,904. The average monthly yield for 
LAIF investments in June 2022 was 0.86 percent, which represents a significant increase 
compared to 0.24 percent average yield for the first three quarters of the Fiscal Year. The 
increased yield is largely driven by increased interest rates for US Treasuries as they comprise 
nearly 70 percent of the LAIF portfolio.  

Pursuant to provision (2) of California Government Code section 53646, the District portfolio 
complies with the District’s investment policy.  Pursuant to provision (3) of California 
Government code section 53646, the District establishes that it is able to meet its pooled 
expenditure requirements for the next six months. 

ATTACHMENT(S) 
1. Schedule of Investments and Yield Curve as of June 30, 2022



7/1/2021 6/30/2022

Beginning Ending  Fiscal YTD Current

Balance Withdrawal Balance Accrued Interest Yield

LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND:

Balance 74,526,769 74,526,769 

Accrued Interest - 269,838 269,838 269,838 0.861%

Purchase/(Withdrawal) - 6,500,000 (18,000,000) (11,500,000) 

Balance 74,526,769 6,500,000 269,838 63,296,607 269,838 

DISTRICT INVESTMENTS:

Fidelity Gov't Money Market Fund 8,675,700 1,803 592 (8,000,000) 678,095 592 1.210%

Corporate Obligations 7,000 (1,744) (1,256) 4,000 

US Bank Checking Account 4,070,913 128,357,590 5,467 (128,858,062) 3,575,908 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 87,280,382 134,859,393 274,154 (136,859,318) 67,554,611 270,431 0.819%

Marin Municipal Water District

FY2022 Schedule of Investments

As of June 30, 2022

 Investment 

Income/(Loss) 

 Purchases / 

Deposits 

Item Number: 04
   Attachment: 01


	Finance & Administration Committee Agenda
	01-Staff Report - FAC Minutes of 05-26-2022 and 06-23-2022
	01a - Attachment 1 - FAC Minutes of 05-26-2022 
	01b- Attachment 2 - FAC Minutes of 06-23-2022 
	02- Staff Report - Response to Grand Jury Report - Water Resilience
	02a-Attachment 1 - Draft Grand Jury Response 
	02b- Attachment 2 - Grand Jury Report
	03- Staff Report - Monthly Financial Update as of June 30, 2022
	03a- Attachment 1 - Total Water Sales FY 2022
	03b- Attachment 2 - Billed Water Consumption FY 2022
	03c- Attachment 3 - Budget to Actuals FY 2022
	03d-Attachment 4 - CIP FY 2022
	03e-Attachment 5 - Water Accounts Recievable FY 2019 to FY 2022
	04-Staff Report - Quarterly Investment Report as of June 30, 2022
	04a- Attachment 1 - Schedule of Investment & Yield Curve as of June 30, 2022



